

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

Style Definition: TOC 1: Centered

Election and Appointment Procedures

For

Deleted: f

Conservation District Supervisors

Washington State Conservation Commission

Send Mail To: PO Box 47721, Olympia, WA 98504-7721

Physical Address Only: 300 Desmond Drive SE, Lacey, WA 98503

Phone: (360) 407-6200

FAX: (360) 407-6215

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Manual

Washington State Conservation Commission, POB 47721, Olympia, WA 98504-7721

Revised: 2016

Deleted: f

CONTENTS

<u>Section 1: Fundamentals</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>A. Purpose – WAC 135-110-100.....</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>B. Authority – WAC 135-110-100.....</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>C. Failure to comply with these procedures – WAC 135-110-120</u>	<u>1</u>
<u>D. Disruptions prohibited – WAC 135-110-180</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>E. General requirements</u>	<u>2</u>
<u>F. Definitions – WAC 135-110-110</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>Section 2: Elections.....</u>	<u>11</u>
<u>A. Information standards</u>	<u>11</u>
<u>B. Information, Forms and Reports Required and Deadlines.....</u>	<u>14</u>
<u>C. Conservation Commission duties</u>	<u>15</u>
<u>D. Conservation District duties</u>	<u>16</u>
<u>E. Election Supervisor duties</u>	<u>25</u>
<u>F. Polling Officer duties</u>	<u>27</u>
<u>G. Candidate duties.....</u>	<u>30</u>
<u>H. Nominator duties.....</u>	<u>31</u>
<u>I. Voter duties.....</u>	<u>31</u>
<u>J. Non-standard election outcomes</u>	<u>32</u>
<u>K. Emergencies</u>	<u>34</u>
<u>Section 3: Appointments</u>	<u>35</u>
<u>A. Information required</u>	<u>35</u>
<u>B. Forms and reports required.....</u>	<u>35</u>
<u>C. Conservation Commission duties</u>	<u>36</u>
<u>D. Conservation District duties</u>	<u>37</u>
<u>E. Applicant duties.....</u>	<u>39</u>
<u>Section 4: Vacancy, removal, and replacement.....</u>	<u>40</u>
<u>A. Only vacant offices may be filled – WAC 135-110-900</u>	<u>40</u>
<u>B. Supervisors must be eligible to serve – WAC 135-110-910</u>	<u>40</u>

Deleted: Contents¶
APPENDIX
B.....49¶
APPENDIX
C.....52

Deleted: 5

**Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors**



Washington State
**Conservation
Commission**

Deleted: f

C. Resignation from office – WAC 135-110-920.....40
D. Ceasing to be a registered voter – WAC 135-110-930.....40
E. Death of the supervisor – WAC 135-110-940.....40
F. Declaration voiding an election or appointment – WAC 135-110-950.....41
G. Removal from office – WAC 135-110-960.....41
H. Replacement – WAC 135-110-970.....41
Appendix A -Sample Absentee Ballot43
Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples.....47
Appendix C – Sample Candidate Information Template.....50
Appendix D - Sample Election Resolution.....52
Appendix E -Sample Elected Board Positions – Mid-Term Appointments53
Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor.....57
Checklist 2 – Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent.....58
Checklist 3 - Ballot Results.....60
Election Supervisor Master Checklist for Elections.....61

Deleted: ¶
¶
¶
¶
¶

Formatted: TOC Heading

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

SECTION 1: FUNDAMENTALS

A. Purpose – WAC 135-110-100

These procedures exist to assist conservation districts and conservation district supervisors in the election, appointment, and replacement of supervisors in the State of Washington, and to assure fair treatment of all parties involved in such proceedings, and to provide guidance for compliance with the Washington Administrative Code (WAC), Chapter 135-110.

B. Authority – WAC 135-110-100

1. The Washington State Conservation Commission is authorized in Revised Code of Washington (RCW) Chapter 89.08.190 to establish conservation district election procedures: “The commission shall establish procedures for elections, canvass the returns and announce the official results thereof.” The Commission has adopted WAC 135-110, effective November 19, 2010.
2. The Conservation Commission is tasked in RCW 89.08.160 with appointing two supervisors who are qualified by training and experience to serve as conservation district supervisors.
3. Conservation district supervisors are required by RCW 89.08.190 to conduct conservation district elections annually. Such elections must comply with these procedures.
4. If any provision in these procedures or its application to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of these procedures or the application of the provision to other persons or circumstances is not affected.
5. In circumstances where these rules and/or procedures are silent or in conflict, the Commission will look to general election law (RCW Chapter 29A) rules and procedures for guidance.

Deleted: Revised Code of Washington

Deleted: Chapter

Deleted: Revised Code of Washington

Deleted: Chapter

Deleted: Revised Code of Washington

C. Failure to comply with these procedures – WAC 135-110-120

1. In the event these procedures are not substantially followed, the Conservation Commission may make a determination of significant noncompliance. Significant noncompliance consists of failures to follow these procedures that, in the sole judgment of the Conservation Commission, may (1) affect the outcome of an election; (2) affect the appointment of a supervisor; or (3) deny voters their right of privacy in voting. If a determination of significant noncompliance is made, the Conservation Commission may choose not to certify the election or make the appointment.
2. If the Conservation Commission chooses not to certify an election, the conservation district must seek judicial review of the election in Superior Court.
3. For appointment applications found to be significantly noncompliant, the conservation district or applicant must correct all deficiencies on the application. The applicant and conservation district

Deleted: 5

37 must comply with these procedures before the Conservation Commission will act on an application
38 for appointment to the position of conservation district supervisor.

39 **D. Disruptions prohibited – [WAC 135-110-180](#)**

- 40 1. Behavior that disrupts or interferes with the election or appointment of conservation district
41 supervisors shall not be tolerated. A conservation district supervisor, a polling officer, or the election
42 supervisor may require disruptive persons to leave the premises. Such disruptive persons may be
43 asked to keep a distance of at least 300 feet away from the polling place. Law enforcement officers
44 may be called to assist in removing persons found to be disrupting or interfering with election or
45 appointment processes.

46 **E. General requirements**

- 47 1. Each year, either during the last quarter of the calendar year preceding an election or immediately in
48 January or February of the year in which the election will be held, each conservation district Board of
49 Supervisors must adopt a resolution setting an election date within the first quarter of the year in
50 which the election will be held. [WAC 135-110-210](#). The date the Board of Supervisors chooses to
51 hold the election will determine when the resolution must be adopted. [WAC 135-110-220](#). Each
52 conservation district Board of Supervisors must also appoint one election supervisor to organize,
53 coordinate, and perform functions required of the conservation district in the election and
54 appointment of conservation district supervisors. [WAC 135-110-230](#). This information, plus a list of
55 conservation district supervisor positions expiring in the year of the election, must be posted
56 conspicuously in the conservation district office.
- 57 2. Due notice in print media, as defined in these procedures, must be provided for every full-term
58 conservation district election and every full-term conservation district appointment process. [WAC](#)
59 [135-110-220](#) and [WAC 135-110-110](#). Notices for both processes may be combined if the
60 conservation district so chooses. Conservation districts are strongly encouraged to exceed the
61 minimum due notice requirements to reach the maximum number of potential candidates and
62 voters.
- 63 3. For poll site elections, the conservation district Board of Supervisors must specify the location(s) for
64 polling and the hours in which polling will occur. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)b](#). Every poll site must be
65 open for at least four hours at a time convenient for voters. [WAC 135-110-240\(2\)](#). Every poll site
66 must have at least two polling officers present during the hours the polls are open. [WAC 135-110-](#)
67 [240\(2\)](#) and [WAC 135-110-620](#). However, if the incumbent is automatically reelected, then no other
68 election activities at physical poll sites or through remote election processes may be performed.
69 [WAC 135-110-370](#). Polling places selected must have sufficient parking to accommodate the

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

70 expected number of voters. Polling places must be accessible to voters. [WAC 135-110-250](#) and [WAC](#)
71 [135-110-580](#). If the election will be held only by mail, the date set by the conservation district is the
72 end date for receiving ballots from voters, and the location will be where ballots are counted. It is a
73 good practice, however, to specify in the election notice to voters when the last day, time, and
74 location mailed ballots may be received.

75 4. Every candidate in a conservation district election must be a qualified district elector. [WAC 135-110-](#)
76 [300](#). A qualified district elector is a registered voter residing within the boundary of the conservation
77 district where the candidate wishes to serve. In addition, some positions may be required to own
78 land or operate a farm to be eligible. [WAC 135-110-310](#).

79 5. The filing deadline for candidates is four weeks before election day, unless, by formal action, the
80 conservation district supervisors choose a filing deadline greater than four weeks before election
81 day. [WAC 135-110-330](#). A conservation district may not make the filing deadline less than four
82 weeks, but may make the deadline more than four weeks, by formal action of the conservation
83 district board of supervisors. [WAC 135-110-330](#).

84 6. There are three types of candidates: (1) declared, (2) declared nominated, and (3) undeclared write-
85 in candidates. [WAC 135-110-350](#). Both declared and declared nominated candidates require the
86 filing of candidate information with the conservation district by the filing deadline. [WAC 135-110-](#)
87 [350](#). In addition, a candidate wishing to have his or her name placed on the official ballot must
88 submit to the conservation district a nominating petition signed by at least 25 nominators by the
89 filing deadline. [WAC 135-110-340](#). A candidate who submits a nominating petition on time, but
90 without at least 25 nominators, will be considered a declared candidate. [WAC 135-110-350\(1\)](#).

91 7. An individual who does not file candidate information with the conservation district by the filing
92 deadline is not eligible to be elected. [WAC 135-110-320](#) and [WAC 135-110-355](#).

93 8. Every physical poll site must have at least two polling officers present during the hours polls are
94 open. [WAC 135-110-240](#). The election supervisor may serve as a polling officer at one poll site.
95 [WAC 135-110-470](#). The conservation district must provide at least two polling officers at each poll
96 site, except the election supervisor may substitute for one polling officer at one poll site. [WAC 135-](#)
97 [110-620](#). A conservation district supervisor, employee or municipal officer may not serve as a polling
98 officer in the conservation district election, unless the person is the election supervisor appointed by
99 the conservation district supervisors. [WAC 135-110-440](#). While there is no prohibition against a
100 relative or spouse serving as a polling officer, it is important to keep in mind [WAC 135-110-150](#) which
101 says that conservation districts, employees and supervisors must remain impartial during an
102 election. Further, with [WAC 135-110-150](#) in mind, there is no prohibition against a conservation

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 103 district supervisor, employee or municipal officer from serving as a polling officer in another districts’
104 election.
- 105 9. Every individual requesting a ballot for any conservation district election must be verified as a
106 qualified district elector before a ballot is counted. [WAC 135-110-610](#). This applies to poll-site
107 elections and to mail-in elections.
- 108 10. At a poll-site election, a contested ballot must be issued if the voter’s eligibility to vote cannot be
109 determined during polling and the individual wishes to vote. [WAC 135-110-610](#).
- 110 11. All ballots or computer voting records must be retained by the conservation district for twelve
111 months after the election has been certified, at which time they may be destroyed, unless the
112 election has not been certified by the Conservation Commission or the election has been challenged.
113 [WAC 135-110-140](#).
- 114 12. All election forms and documents submitted to the Conservation Commission must be copies. [WAC](#)
115 [135-110-130](#). Conservation Districts must retain the original version of all election forms until ballots
116 may be discarded. [WAC 135-110-130](#). The Conservation Commission may inspect original
117 documents. [WAC 135-110-130](#).
- 118 13. An employee or municipal officer of a conservation district holding an election may assist in election-
119 related activities, but may not serve as a polling officer in the conservation district where they are
120 employed, unless the employee or municipal officer is the election supervisor appointed by the
121 conservation district board of supervisors. [WAC 135-110-440](#).
- 122 14. An applicant or candidate must be eligible to serve at the time of application or filing for the office of
123 conservation district supervisor. If, during the term of office, the individual no longer meets the
124 eligibility requirements to hold that office, the office is deemed to be vacant. [WAC 135-110-910](#) and
125 [WAC 135-110-930](#).
- 126 15. Elections are final when certified and the official results are announced by the Conservation
127 Commission in May of each year or later as deemed necessary by the Commission. [WAC 135-110-](#)
128 [770](#). A supervisor-elect takes office and can begin official duties as a board supervisor when the
129 election is final, which is after the May Commission meeting. [RCW 89.08.190](#) says that “The
130 commission shall establish procedures for elections, canvass the returns and announce the official
131 results thereof. Election results may be announced by polling officials at the close of the election
132 subject to official canvass of ballots by the commission. Supervisors elected shall take office at the
133 first board meeting following the election.” [WAC 135-110-770\(1\)](#) says that “elections are final when
134 certified by the conservation commission and the official results are announced by the conservation

Deleted: 5



Deleted: f

135 commission in May of each year or later as deemed necessary.” Read together, the RCW and WAC
136 are linked. The phrase “following the election” in the RCW is linked to the initial phrase “the
137 commission shall establish procedures for elections...” which is linked to the meaning of “final” for
138 election purposes in [WAC 135-110-770\(1\)](#). Elections are final when they are “certified by the
139 conservation commission and the official results are announced by the conservation commission in
140 May of each year or later as deemed necessary.” Therefore, a supervisor-elect takes office and can
141 begin official duties as board supervisor when the election is final, which is after the May
142 Commission meeting.

143 **F. Definitions – [WAC 135-110-110](#)**

144 "Absentee ballot" or "mail-in ballot" means a ballot issued to a voter before election day that can be
145 delivered to the conservation district or designated election supervisor on or before the day of the
146 election.

147 “Applicant” is an individual applying to the Conservation Commission for the office of appointed
148 supervisor of a conservation district.

149 “Appointed supervisor” is an individual appointed by the Conservation Commission to a conservation
150 district board of supervisors.

151 “Authorized conservation program” and “conservation program” mean the renewable resources
152 program defined in RCW 89.08.220(7) which includes a comprehensive long-range plan and an annual
153 plan of work.

154 "Ballot" or "official ballot" means the final, preprinted ballot containing the name of each declared,
155 nominated candidate found eligible, and at least one line where a voter may enter the name of a write-
156 in candidate.

157 “Ballot box” is a container secured against tampering into which ballots are placed.

158 "Candidate" means a person seeking the office of elected conservation district supervisor who has
159 provided the required candidate information to the conservation district by the filing deadline and
160 whose eligibility to run and to serve has been verified by the conservation district.

161 “Canvass” and “canvassing” mean to examine carefully or scrutinize the election returns for authenticity
162 and proper count.

163 “Certify” and “certification” mean the canvassing of returns and the verification of substantial
164 compliance with these procedures, as performed by the Conservation Commission.

165 “Commission” and “Conservation Commission” mean the Washington State Conservation Commission
166 governing board and all deputies and representatives authorized to act on its behalf.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

167 "Commission board," "Commission governing board," "Conservation Commission board," and
168 "Conservation Commission governing board" mean the governing board of the Washington State
169 Conservation Commission.

170 "Conservation district" and "district" mean a governmental subdivision of the State of Washington
171 organized under the provisions of RCW 89.08 Conservation Districts Law.

172 "Conservation district board of supervisors," "conservation district supervisors," "district supervisors,"
173 and "supervisors" mean the governing board of a conservation district, composed of elected and
174 appointed supervisors.

175 "Conservation district supervisor," "district supervisor," and "supervisor" mean an elected or appointed
176 board member of a local conservation district governing board, in which the governing board is referred
177 to as the board of supervisors.

178 "Contested ballot" or "provisional ballot" means a paper ballot issued to a voter whose qualifications as
179 a qualified district elector cannot be determined at the time the paper ballot is issued. A provisional
180 ballot consists of two envelopes and a paper ballot.

181 "Declared nominated candidate" and "nominated candidate" means an individual found to be a qualified
182 district elector who is eligible and who has submitted the candidate information required, including a
183 qualified nominating petition, to the conservation district by the filing deadline, and the conservation
184 district has verified the eligibility of the candidate.

185 "Declared vacancy" and "declared vacant" mean a declaration by the Conservation Commission that a
186 conservation district supervisor position is vacant.

187 "Declared write-in candidate" means a person seeking the office of elected supervisor who has provided
188 the required candidate information to the conservation district by the filing deadline, and the
189 conservation district has found the person eligible.

190 "Double envelope balloting" means a paper balloting system consisting of an inner and an outer
191 envelope, where a ballot is placed in an inner envelope with no personally identifying marks on it, and
192 then the inner envelope with ballot is placed in the outer envelope upon which the voter has provided
193 sufficient information to allow polling officers to verify the eligibility of the voter.

194 "Due notice" or "notice" means a notice published at least twice, with at least six days between
195 publications, in a publication of general circulation within the affected area. If there is no such
196 publication, a notice may be posted at a reasonable number of public places within the area where it is
197 customary to post notices concerning county and municipal affairs. To illustrate, the first notice must be
198 at least one week before the event (election resolution adoption meeting or election) and the second at
199 least a day before the event (election resolution adoption meeting or election). There is no requirement
200 for publication of a legal advertisement. However, if one is used, a copy of the announcement as
201 published, showing the date of publication is sufficient proof of publication. An affidavit of publication
202 from the publisher is then not required.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

203 "Elected supervisor" is a qualified district elector (1) who received more valid votes than any other
204 candidate and (2) whose election has been certified and announced by the Conservation Commission.

205 "Election supervisor" is an individual or entity appointed by a local conservation district governing board
206 to organize, coordinate, and facilitates all conservation district activities related to the election and
207 appointment of conservation district supervisors. Only the conservation district board of supervisors
208 may set election dates and appoint the election supervisor.

209 "Electioneering" is the act of soliciting or advocating votes for a specific candidate, or speaking for or
210 against a specific candidate, within 300 feet of a ballot box or voting place.

211 "Elector," "district elector," and "qualified district elector" mean an individual residing within the
212 boundary of the conservation district and registered to vote in a county where the conservation district
213 is located.

214 "Farm and agricultural land" is defined in [RCW 89.08.020](#) as follows: "Farm and agricultural land" means
215 either (a) land in any contiguous ownership of twenty or more acres devoted primarily to agricultural
216 uses; (b) any parcel of land five acres or more but less than twenty acres devoted primarily to
217 agricultural uses, which has produced a gross income from agricultural uses equivalent to one hundred
218 dollars or more per acre per year for three of the five calendar years preceding the date of application
219 for classification under this chapter; or (c) any parcel of land of less than five acres devoted primarily to
220 agricultural uses which has produced a gross income of one thousand dollars or more per year for three
221 of the five calendar years preceding the date of application for classification under this chapter.
222 Agricultural lands shall also include farm woodlots of less than twenty and more than five acres and the
223 land on which appurtenances necessary to production, preparation or sale of the agricultural products
224 exist in conjunction with the lands producing such products. Agricultural lands shall also include any
225 parcel of land of one to five acres, which is not contiguous, but which otherwise constitutes an integral
226 part of farming operations being conducted on land qualifying under this section as "farm and
227 agricultural lands."

228 "Farm operator" or "operator of a farm" means a person who operates farm and agricultural land as
229 defined in these procedures, and who meets this definition when candidate information is filed with the
230 conservation district.

231 "Filing deadline" means four weeks before election day in the current election cycle, or more than four
232 weeks if a local filing deadline is adopted by formal action of the conservation district board of
233 supervisors.

234 "Full term," "regular term," and "full term of office" mean three years.

235 "Incumbent" is the person in present possession of the office of conservation district supervisor.

236 "Landowner" means a person with legal title of record to real property in the conservation district at the
237 time of filing for election or applying for appointment.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

238 "Mail-in ballot" is a double-envelope system consisting of two envelopes and a pre-printed ballot, in
239 which the ballot is inserted into an inner envelope and sealed, with no marks or other information that
240 would identify the person voting. The outer envelope shows or contains sufficient information to
241 identify the voter.

242 "Mail-in election" is an election in which mail-in ballots are provided before election day to qualified
243 voters. Voters return completed ballots to a receiving location or address authorized by the
244 conservation district board of supervisors.

245 "Malfeasance" means wrongful conduct that affects, interrupts, or interferes with the performance of a
246 supervisor's official duty. Such conduct includes, but is not limited to, the commission of some act
247 which is wrongful or unlawful, or the unjust performance of some act which the party had no right to do,
248 or the unjust performance of some act which the party had contracted not to do.

249 "Mid-term" and "mid-term vacancy" mean a vacancy in the office of conservation district supervisor,
250 when such vacancy occurs before the full term of office has been fulfilled.

251 "Municipal officer" means all elected and appointed officers of a conservation district, together with all
252 deputies and assistants of such an officer, and all persons exercising or undertaking to exercise any of
253 the powers or functions of a municipal officer.

254 "Neglect of duty" means failure by a supervisor or supervisors to perform mandatory duties. Such
255 duties include, but are not limited to, (a) compliance with local, state, and federal laws and rules, (b)
256 attendance at a reasonable number of board meetings, (c) maintaining a full and accurate record of
257 district business, (d) securing of surety bonds for board officers and employees, (e) carrying out an
258 annual financial audit, (f) providing for keeping current a comprehensive long-range program, (g)
259 providing for preparation of an annual work plan, (h) providing for informing the general public,
260 agencies, and occupiers of lands within the conservation district of conservation district plans and
261 programs, (i) providing for including affected community members in regard to current and proposed
262 plans and programs, and (j) providing for the submission of the conservation district's proposed long-
263 range program and annual work plan to the Conservation Commission.

264 "Nominated candidate" is an individual found to be a qualified district elector who is eligible and who
265 has submitted the candidate information required, including a qualified nominating petition, to the
266 conservation district by the filing deadline, and the conservation district has verified the eligibility of the
267 candidate.

268 "Nominating petition" is a list of signatures of nominators who desire a candidate's name be placed on
269 the official ballot for a conservation district election.

270 "Nominator" is a qualified district elector who signs a petition nominating an individual seeking the
271 office of elected supervisor.

272 "Poll list" or "polling list" is a list of voters who voted in an election.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

273 "Polling officer" means a person appointed by the election supervisor to verify voter eligibility, assure
274 compliance with this rule in and around the polling place, issue ballots, count ballots, and verify the
275 unofficial ballot count in writing to conservation district supervisors.

276 "Poll site" and "polling site" mean a location where votes are collected in a ballot box.

277 "Poll-site election" and "walk-in election" mean an election in which a voter signs in on a poll list,
278 receives a ballot from a polling officer, enters a vote for a candidate on the ballot, and places the ballot
279 in a ballot box at a polling place supervised or monitored by polling officers.

280 "Print media" means physical material on which information or instructions are printed. Print media
281 includes, but is not limited to, newspapers, magazines, newsletters, and handbills posted on bulletin
282 boards or otherwise made available to citizens. Print media may include one or more web pages on a
283 conservation district website, or on the Conservation Commission's website, if at least one notice is
284 published on physical media made widely available to potential voters. Print media does not include
285 web pages on other websites, electronic mail, social networking sites, and similar electronic information
286 sharing methods.

287 "Provisional ballot" or "contested ballot" means a paper ballot issued to a voter whose qualifications as
288 a qualified district elector cannot be determined at the time the paper ballot is issued. A provisional
289 ballot consists of two envelopes and a paper ballot.

290 "Qualified district elector" is a registered voter in the county where the district is located and who
291 resides within the conservation district boundary.

292 "Qualified nominating petition" is a nominating petition which contains at least 25 signatures of
293 nominators.

294 "Remote election" is an election in which ballots are returned by some means other than for a poll-site
295 election. A mail-in election is a type of remote election.

296 "Resignation" and "to resign" mean the act of providing a signed and dated written notice to the
297 Conservation Commission stating the individual's intent to terminate serving in an elective or appointive
298 office.

299 "Short term" or "short term of office" is a term of office less than three years in duration.

300 "Supervisor" means an elected or appointed board member of a local conservation district governing
301 board, in which the governing board is referred to as the board of supervisors.

302 "Supervisor-elect" means a supervisor who received more valid votes than any of the other candidates
303 running for the same position in a conservation district election, but the election has not yet been
304 certified by the Conservation Commission.

305 "Tie" or "election tie" means an election where no candidate has received a simple majority of votes
306 cast by qualified district electors, and two or more candidates have received the same number of votes
307 cast by qualified district electors.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

308 "Undeclared write-in candidate" is an individual who has not submitted required candidate information
309 to the conservation district and who has not submitted a qualified nominating petition by the filing
310 deadline.

311 "Voter" means a person who submits a ballot in a conservation district election.

312 "Voter list" is a list of registered voters obtained from the county auditor.

313 "Withdrawal of candidacy" and "to withdraw" means a written notice, signed and dated by the
314 candidate, and delivered to the conservation district, stating the person's desire to be removed from
315 consideration for the office of conservation district supervisor.

Formatted: Level 1

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

Section 2: Elections

A. Information standards

1. Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election Resolution. A notice of the intent to adopt an election resolution must be published twice, at least six days between each publishing, before the meeting to adopt the Election Resolution can be held. The purpose of this Notice is to inform the public that the District intends to have a meeting at which the date, time, place and manner of the election will be set. [WAC 135-110-220](#). Districts may publish their adopted election resolution, and all subsequent election notices, on a Districts' web site. Districts who choose this option are required to publish the *Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election Resolution* as usual (twice, at least a week apart, in a newspaper) accompanied by a clear statement in that notice that future election information will be posted only on the districts' web site. Once that is accomplished, districts may then publish any further election notices or materials on their web site.

Deleted: ONLY

2. Election resolution. The information in the election resolution must be provided to the Conservation Commission on or before the candidate filing deadline. This is accomplished by filing out form [EF1 - CD Election Information](#), available on the Commission's elections web page at <http://scc.wa.gov/elections-and-appointments/>, [WAC 135-110-210\(3\)](#). The purpose of this Notice is to inform the public, voters and potential candidates of the date, time, place and manner of the election. This Notice must be published twice, at least six days between each publishing, before the candidate filing deadline. However, see the note above in Section 2(A)(1). Conservation districts must provide the following information:

Deleted: <http://scc.wa.gov/elections/>

- a) The name of the conservation district. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)a](#).
- b) The date, physical location (address), and times polls will open and close for each polling place. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)b](#).
- c) The election method(s) selected for the election. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)c](#).
- d) The final date by which voters must request absentee ballots from the district. [WAC 135-110-410](#).
- e) A list showing the name of each elected and appointed conservation district supervisor with a term expiring in the election and appointment cycle covered by the resolution. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)d](#).
- f) The filing deadline for candidates. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)e](#).

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 348 g) Identification of an individual appointed by the conservation district to fulfill the duties of
349 election supervisor, including the mailing address, email address (if available), and phone
350 number of the election supervisor. [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)f](#).
- 351 h) Dated signature of at least one conservation district supervisor attesting to this information.
352 [WAC 135-110-210\(2\)g](#).
- 353 3. Candidate information. Specific information must be submitted by each candidate to the
354 conservation district. [WAC 135-110-320](#). The form provided for this purpose by the Conservation
355 Commission is [Form PF-A](#). Candidates must provide the following information:
- 356 a) The name of the conservation district. [WAC 135-110-320\(3\)a](#).
- 357 b) The candidate's name, residential address, mailing address, and phone number. [WAC 135-110-](#)
358 [320\(3\)b](#).
- 359 c) Whether the candidate is a registered voter in the county where the conservation district is
360 located. [WAC 135-110-320\(3\)c](#).
- 361 d) Whether the candidate resides inside the conservation district boundary. [WAC 135-110-320\(3\)d](#).
- 362 e) Two choices, only one of which may be selected by the candidate:
- 363 i) The candidate intends to run as a declared nominated candidate with his or her name on the
364 official ballot. This option will require a validated nominating petition from the candidate.
365 [WAC 135-110-350\(2\)](#).
- 366 ii) The candidate intends to run as a declared candidate. The candidate's name will not appear
367 on the official ballot, and no nominating petition is required. [WAC 135-110-350\(1\)](#).
- 368 f) Two choices, only one of which may be selected by the candidate ([WAC 135-110-320\(3\)e](#)):
- 369 i) The candidate is a landowner or operator of a farm, as defined in these procedures.
- 370 ii) The candidate is not a landowner or operator of a farm, as defined in these procedures.
- 371 g) Dated signature of the candidate attesting to the information provided. [WAC 135-110-320\(3\)f](#).
- 372 4. Nominating petition. A nominating petition is required for candidates who wish to have their names
373 pre-printed on the official ballot. [WAC 135-110-340](#). The form provided for this purpose by the
374 Conservation Commission is [Form PF-B](#). Candidates must provide the following information:
- 375 a) The name of the conservation district. [WAC 135-110-340\(2\)a](#).
- 376 b) The name of the candidate. [WAC 135-110-340\(2\)b](#).
- 377 c) The name and address of each nominator. For verification purposes, this information should
378 match the information in the voter registration rolls held by the County Auditor. [WAC 135-110-](#)
379 [340\(2\)c](#).

Deleted: 5

**Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors**



Deleted: f

- 380 d) Each nominator needs to sign the petition, and by their signature, state his or her wish for the
381 candidate named in the petition to be placed on the official ballot. [WAC 135-110-340\(2\)d.](#)
- 382 e) A notation by the conservation district next to each nominator, identifying the nominator as a
383 qualified district elector eligible to sign the petition, or found by the conservation district to be
384 ineligible. [WAC 135-110-355\(3\).](#)
- 385 5. Eligibility determination. [The election supervisor must verify the eligibility of each person who](#)
386 [submits candidate information required by WAC 135-110-320. Checklist 1 - District Verification of](#)
387 [Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor should be used to verify eligibility.](#) [WAC](#)
388 [135-110-355.](#) [Verification of eligibility for each candidate will be documented when the District](#)
389 [submits EF2 – Election Report.](#)
- 390 6. Verification of compliance with due notice requirements. [Verification of compliance with due notice](#)
391 [requirements will be documented when the District submits EF2 – Election Report.](#) [WAC 135-110-](#)
392 [220](#) and [WAC 135-110-110.](#)
- 393 7. Poll list. The form provided for this purpose by the Conservation Commission is [PF-C. WAC 135-110-](#)
394 [550.](#) Conservation districts and voters must provide the following information:
 - 395 a) The name of the conservation district. [WAC 135-110-550\(2\)a.](#)
 - 396 b) The location of the poll site. [WAC 135-110-550\(2\)b.](#)
 - 397 c) Identification of this poll list as applying to a poll-site or mail-in election. [WAC 135-110-550\(2\)b.](#)
 - 398 d) The date the polls were open. [WAC 135-110-550\(2\)b.](#)
 - 399 e) Each voter must provide:
 - 400 i) Name. [WAC 135-110-550\(3\)a.](#)
 - 401 ii) Address that matches the voter registration list, including city. [WAC 135-110-550\(3\)b.](#)
 - 402 iii) Signature of the voter. [WAC 135-110-550\(3\)c.](#)
 - 403 f) For each voter, a polling officer must determine whether the voter is eligible to vote. If eligibility
404 is contested, each such determination must be initialed by the polling officer. [WAC 135-110-460;](#)
405 [WAC 135-110-610.](#)
- 406 8. Ballot results report. [Polling officers and the election supervisor should use Checklist 3 - Ballot](#)
407 [Results to record ballot results for each polling location. Total ballot results for all polling locations](#)
408 [will be documented when the District submits EF2 – Election Report.](#) [WAC 135-110-750.](#)
409 Conservation districts and polling officers must record the following information on Checklist 3:
 - 410 a) The name of the conservation district. [WAC 135-110-750\(3\)a.](#)

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1.15 li, Keep with next

Comment [ble1]: Insert correct page number

Deleted: The form provided for this purpose by the Conservation Commission is Form EF2.

Deleted: Conservation districts must provide the following information for each candidate (declared, declared nominated, or write-in):¶
<#>The name of the conservation district.¶
<#>The name of the candidate or incumbent. WAC 135-110-355(2)a.¶
<#>Whether the candidate did, or did not, submit required candidate information by the filing deadline. WAC 135-110-355(2)b.¶
<#>Whether the candidate did, or did not, submit a completed nominating petition by the filing deadline. WAC 135-110-355(2)c.¶
<#>Whether the person named on the form is, or is not, a qualified district elector on the day of filing. WAC 135-110-355(2)d. ¶
<#>Whether at least two of the three elected conservation district supervisors on the conservation district Board of Supervisors will be landowners or operators of farms if the candidate is elected. RCW 89.08.160 requires two of the three elected supervisors to be either a landowner or operator of a farm. If the election of a candidate would cause a conservation district board of supervisors to contain fewer than two elected supervisors who are landowners or farm operators, the candidate is not eligible to be elected. WAC 135-110-310. "Landowner" and "farm operator" are two separate categories and are defined in WAC 135-110-110.¶
<#>The dated name and signature of the conservation district representative making these determinations. WAC 135-110-355(2)e.¶
<#>The total number of nominators who signed the nominating petition, and the total number of nominators found to be qualified district electors eligible to sign the petition. WAC 135-110-355(3).¶
<#>A declaration that (WAC 135-110-355):¶

Deleted: The form provided for this purpose by the Conservation Commission is Form EF4.

Deleted: Conservation districts must provide the following information:¶
<#>The name of the conservation district.¶

Comment [ble2]: Need page number

Deleted: The form provided for this purpose by the Conservation Commission is Form EF5.

Field Code Changed

Deleted: provide

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

- b) The location of the poll site. [WAC 135-110-750\(3\)b](#).
- c) Identification of the [Checklist](#) as applying to a particular poll site or to a mail-in election. [WAC 135-110-750\(3\)b](#).
- d) The date of the election. [WAC 135-110-750\(3\)b](#).
- e) For each candidate:
 - i) Identify the candidate by name. [WAC 135-110-750\(4\)a](#).
 - ii) Provide the number of eligible votes counted, the number of disqualified votes counted, and the total number of votes received for each candidate. The total should be the eligible votes plus the disqualified votes. [WAC 135-110-750\(4\)b and \(5\)](#).
 - iii) Identify the unofficial winner and whether the unofficial winner is a nominated candidate listed on the official ballot or is a declared write-in candidate or is an undeclared write-in candidate. [WAC 135-110-750\(6\)](#).
 - iv) [The total ballot count for each candidate](#) must be electronically submitted [to the Commission, WAC 135-110-750\(7\)](#).

Deleted: is report

Deleted: Each ballot results reporting form

Deleted: and dated by the polling officers who counted the ballots so reported

B. Information, Forms and Reports Required and Deadlines

1. Conservation districts must provide the information described in the previous section to the Conservation Commission. Conservation districts must use electronic or paper forms provided by the Conservation Commission.
2. All documents provided to the public and to the Conservation Commission [\(if necessary\)](#) should be on white or light-colored paper.
3. Due dates for information, forms, and reports.
 - a) Documents provided by a candidate to the conservation district.
 - i) For nominated candidates, candidate information and the nominating petition is due to the conservation district by the filing deadline.
 - ii) For declared write-in candidates, candidate information is due to the conservation district by the filing deadline.
 - b) Documents provided by the conservation district to the Conservation Commission.
 - i) Conservation Districts must submit [EF1](#) no later than the candidate filing deadline.
 - ii) Information sufficient for the Commission to certify and announce a conservation district election is due to the Commission within four weeks following the conservation district's last published election date [using EF2](#). The conservation district must retain all original documents.

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

570

TABLE 1: Information, Forms and Deadlines

Name of Election Form	Due to CD from candidate	Reported Electronically to Commission from CD
EF1 - CD Election Information	N/A	No later than the candidate filing deadline
PF-A - Candidate Information (one form per candidate)	No later than the candidate filing deadline	N/A (information included in EF2 below)
PF-B - Nominating Petition (a petition with 25 qualified nominating signatures on it for each candidate wishing his or her name to be on the official ballot). <u>Use as many pages as needed.</u>	No later than the candidate filing deadline	N/A (information included in EF2 below)
EF2 - Election Report	N/A	No later than 28 days after election day
▼	▼	▼
▼	▼	▼
PF-C - Poll list (all pages)	N/A	N/A (poll lists are to be kept by the CD and made available upon request of the Commission)
PF-D - Ballots : As many ballots as needed, to be printed by the CD	N/A	N/A (ballots to be kept by the CD and made available upon request of the Commission)
▼	▼	▼
Election Feedback Form	N/A	N/A

Formatted Table

Deleted: one

Deleted: [Candidate Verification](#)

Deleted: EF3 - Automatic Re-Election Checklist

Deleted: N/A

Deleted: No later than 28 days after the cancelled election day

Deleted: EF4 - Due Notice Compliance

Deleted: N/A

Deleted: No later than 28 days after election day

Deleted: EF5 - Ballot results report

Deleted: N/A

Deleted: No later than 28 days after election day

571

C. Conservation Commission duties

572

1. General

573

- a) The Conservation Commission may request copies of documents and inspect original documents and records.

574

575

2. Before elections

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

- 591 a) The Conservation Commission must make these procedures available for stakeholder review and
592 comment.
- 593 b) The Conservation Commission must notify all conservation districts of supervisor terms of office
594 due to expire. Notice must be provided to conservation districts by October 1 in the year
595 preceding elections.
- 596 c) These procedures become effective on the date they were last revised.
- 597 d) The Conservation Commission may amend these procedures at any time to assure the fair,
598 proper, and orderly election and appointment of conservation district supervisors.

Deleted: September

599 3. During a poll-site election

- 600 a) Conservation Commission board members and/or employees may monitor conservation district
601 elections without notice.

602 4. After the polls close

- 603 a) The Conservation Commission will canvass the returns of conservation district elections to verify
604 election results and to determine if the election was properly conducted according to the
605 requirements in these procedures.
- 606 b) The Conservation Commission board will certify all conservation district elections found to
607 substantially comply with the requirements in these procedures.
- 608 c) The Conservation Commission will announce the official election results, or decline to announce
609 official results, for each conservation district election after the elections have been certified.
- 610 d) The Conservation Commission will act on elections for full-term positions annually at its regular
611 meeting on the third Thursday in May or as necessary thereafter.

612 D. Conservation District duties

613 1. General

- 614 a) A conservation district must hold an election each year.
- 615 b) A copy of these procedures must be made available for public inspection at each poll site.

Deleted: 5

- 617 2. Before an election
- 618 a) Each conservation district must publish a Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election Resolution.
- 619 The purpose of this notice is to inform the public that the District intends to have a meeting at
- 620 which the date, time, place and manner of the election will be set. This Notice must be published
- 621 twice, at least six days between each publishing, before the meeting to adopt the Election
- 622 Resolution can be held. Examples of this Notice can be found in Appendix B.
- 623 b) Each conservation district must hold a meeting after the Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election
- 624 Resolution has been properly published. The purpose of this meeting is to adopt an Election
- 625 Resolution. An example of an Election Resolution can be found in Appendix D.
- 626 c) Each conservation district must publish a Notice of the Adopted Election Resolution. The
- 627 purpose of this Notice is to inform the public, voters and potential candidates of the date, time,
- 628 place and manner of the election. This Notice must be published twice, at least six days between
- 629 each publishing, before the candidate filing deadline. The Notice must set election date(s),
- 630 location(s), and polling times by resolution and that information must be communicated to the
- 631 Conservation Commission by the candidate filing deadline. Examples of this Notice can be found
- 632 in Appendix B.
- 633 i) Each polling place must be open for at least four hours at a time convenient for voters in that
- 634 district. Two polling officers must be present.
- 635 ii) Polling places must have sufficient parking to accommodate the expected number of voters.
- 636 iii) Polling places must be accessible to those with disabilities.
- 637 iv) The election date must be in the first three calendar months of the election year.
- 638 v) If the election will be held by mail, the date set by the conservation district is the last date
- 639 ballots may be received from voters. The location will be where ballots are counted. If
- 640 necessary to accommodate voter(s) pursuant to WAC 135-110-250, a district conducting a
- 641 mail-in election may be required to provide at least one polling place where voters can
- 642 deliver their completed ballots or vote as in a poll-site election.
- 643 vi) The last date voters can request absentee ballots must be set in the Notice.
- 644 d) Each conservation district must appoint an election supervisor.
- 645 i) The election supervisor may be a conservation district supervisor, conservation district
- 646 employee, or any other person appointed by the conservation district board of supervisors.
- 647 ii) The election supervisor serves as the primary point of contact between the conservation
- 648 district and the Conservation Commission for all functions to be performed by the
- 649 conservation district in the election and appointment of conservation district supervisors.

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 650 iii) The election supervisor organizes, coordinates, and facilitates election-related activities of
651 the conservation district related to the election and appointment of conservation district
652 supervisors. The election supervisor assures that required documentation is properly
653 completed and transmitted on time to the Conservation Commission. The election supervisor
654 may also serve as a polling officer.
- 655 iv) Conservation district supervisors remain responsible for conducting the election and for
656 complying with these published requirements and procedures.
- 657 e) For each candidate, the election supervisor must verify that specific eligibility requirements have
658 been met and, for declared nominated candidates, direct whether or not to place the name of
659 the candidate on the ballot. This is done using Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and
660 Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor
- 661 i) For each declared nominated candidate, a conservation district must:
- 662 (1) Verify that candidate information was received by the filing deadline.
- 663 (2) Verify that the nominating petition was received by the filing deadline.
- 664 (3) Verify that at least 25 qualified district electors signed the nominating petition.
- 665 (4) Determine whether the candidate is a qualified district elector.
- 666 (5) Determine whether the composition of the conservation district board will meet
667 statutory requirements if the candidate is elected.
- 668 (6) If requirements one through five above are met, the conservation district must direct that
669 the name of the candidate be placed on the ballot.
- 670 ii) For each declared candidate, a conservation district must:
- 671 (1) Verify that candidate information was received by the filing deadline.
- 672 (2) Determine whether the candidate is a qualified district elector.
- 673 (3) Determine whether the composition of the conservation district board will meet
674 statutory requirements if the candidate is elected.
- 675 iii) For each undeclared write-in candidate, a conservation district must:
- 676 (1) Verify that candidate information is received within four weeks (twenty-eight calendar
677 days) following the first date of election.
- 678 (2) Determine whether the candidate is a qualified district elector.
- 679 (3) Determine whether the composition of the conservation district board will meet
680 statutory requirements if the candidate is elected.
- 681 iv) Such determinations must be made separately for each candidate.

Comment [ble3]: Need page #

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 682 v) A county auditor or the Conservation Commission may assist a conservation district in
683 determining the eligibility of a candidate, upon request of the conservation district.
- 684 f) The conservation district must verify the eligibility of individuals wishing to serve, or continue to
685 serve, as an elected conservation district supervisor.
- 686 g) The conservation district must provide due notice of the election to potential voters.
- 687 i) The conservation district must publish at least two notices as defined in “due notice” and
688 “print media.” Conservation districts are strongly encouraged to exceed the minimum
689 requirements for due notice. Due notice is defined in [WAC 135-110-110](#) and explained in
690 [WAC 135-110-220](#). Examples of this Notice can be found in Appendix B.
- 691 ii) There are two types of election notices:
- 692 (1) Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election Resolution: the purpose of this notice is to
693 inform the public that the District intends to have a meeting at which the date, time,
694 place and manner of the election will be set. This Notice must be published twice, at least
695 six days between each publishing, before the meeting to adopt the Election Resolution
696 can be held.
- 697 (2) Notice of the Adopted Election Resolution: the purpose of this Notice is to inform the
698 public, voters and potential candidates of the date, time, place and manner of the
699 election.
- 700 iii) The Adopted Election Resolution Notice must contain, at minimum, the following
701 information:
- 702 (1) The name of the conservation district.
- 703 (2) The election method[s] selected for the election.
- 704 (3) The date(s), location(s), and times polls open and close.
- 705 (4) That candidates must be registered voters who reside in the conservation district.
- 706 (5) That candidates may be required to be landowners or operators of a farm, depending on
707 the current composition of the conservation district board of supervisors.
- 708 (6) The filing deadline for candidates.
- 709 (7) The last day on which voters can request absentee ballots from the district.
- 710 (8) That eligible voters are registered voters who reside in the conservation district.
- 711 (9) That a conservation district supervisor is a public official who serves without
712 compensation and who sets policy and direction for the conservation district.
- 713 (10) That published election procedures can be viewed at the conservation district office and
714 are available from the Washington State Conservation Commission.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 715 iv) If the election is also to be held by mail, the Election notice must describe how to obtain a
716 ballot and the deadline for returning ballots.
- 717 v) For appointed position notices, refer to Section 3.D.2 of these procedures. Notice examples
718 can be found in Appendix B.
- 719 vi) The Election notice and notice of appointed positions may be combined.
- 720 vii) Conservation districts are strongly encouraged to exceed the minimum due notice
721 requirements so that interested parties may be informed of the opportunity to serve as a
722 conservation district supervisor.
- 723 h) The conservation district must determine the number of polling officers.
- 724 i) The conservation district must provide at least two polling officers at each poll site, except
725 the election supervisor may substitute for one polling officer at one poll site.
- 726 ii) If due notice of the election resolution and the election have been duly published by the
727 conservation district, and the only person filing by the filing deadline is the incumbent, and
728 the conservation district verifies the continued eligibility of the incumbent to serve another
729 term of office, and the incumbent has not resigned on or before the last date of election,
730 then the incumbent is automatically reelected. When an incumbent is automatically
731 reelected, no other election activities at physical poll sites or through remote election
732 processes may be performed, provided that, before election day, the conservation district
733 has informed the voting public that the incumbent has been reelected by reason of being the
734 only person filing for the position, and that no poll site, mail, or absentee balloting will be
735 performed, and on election day, signs containing this information must have been posted at
736 poll sites. Within four weeks of the first date of election as scheduled in the election
737 resolution, the conservation district must inform the Conservation Commission of the
738 automatic reelection of the incumbent. Refer to Section 2.J “Non-standard Election
739 Outcomes” in these procedures for additional information.
- 740 i) If a candidate is found by the conservation district to be ineligible, the conservation district must
741 inform the candidate of the reasons. The conservation district may not print that candidate’s
742 name on the official ballot. If the reason is the lack of sufficient nominators on the nominating
743 petition, the candidate must be considered a declared write-in candidate and the candidate must
744 be so informed by the conservation district.
- 745 j) To assist voters in the selection of a candidate during voting, a conservation district may publish
746 information provided by nominated and declared candidates. Conservation districts should
747 adopt a policy to set the parameters for publishing such information. A sample template is in
748 Appendix C.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 749 i) If a conservation district chooses to publish information about candidates, it must provide
750 equal opportunity for publication and equivalent space to each nominated and declared
751 write-in candidate.
- 752 ii) A conservation district must not take an official position on any candidate that promotes, or
753 is prejudicial to, a candidate, nor may supervisors or employees of the conservation district
754 do so in their official capacity.
- 755 iii) On election day, information provided by candidates may not be provided to voters within
756 300 feet of the poll site.
- 757 k) A conservation district must create a ballot and provide a ballot to each person who wishes to
758 vote in the conservation district election. See form [PF-D](#).
- 759 i) The ballot must list the names of all candidates ordered to be placed on the ballot. Names on
760 the ballot must be listed in alphabetical order by last name, from top to bottom. Example:
761 Jane Adams would be listed above John Doe.
- 762 ii) The ballot must contain at least one blank line where a voter can enter the name of a
763 undeclared write-in candidate.
- 764 iii) One empty checkbox or blank space should be provided next to each candidate's name
765 printed on the ballot.
- 766 iv) During a poll-site election, the conservation district must provide a contested ballot to any
767 individual wishing to vote who cannot be verified as eligible to vote prior to the issuance of a
768 ballot. A double-envelope system consisting of two envelopes and a ballot must be used for
769 all contested ballots.
- 770 v) For electronic voting, the functional equivalent of a paper ballot must be utilized.
- 771 vi) A conservation district may send or provide ballots to all individuals who, in the three years
772 preceding the election, have voted in a conservation district election or have participated in
773 conservation district services or programs. [WAC 135-110-515\(4\)](#). However, if a conservation
774 district provides unrequested ballots to a population that is less than all the eligible voters
775 within the conservation district boundary, the conservation district must not use lists
776 obtained from an individual conservation district supervisor or employee, nor from any
777 candidate, nor from any trade, company, church, union, fraternal or other organization. [WAC](#)
778 [135-110-420](#). So long as a list generated by a conservation district pursuant to [WAC 135-110-](#)
779 [515\(4\)](#) includes all such individuals, such a list is exempt from [WAC 135-110-420](#).
- 780 vii) Absentee ballots must be provided to eligible voters upon request, and voters need not
781 provide proof of any special condition to obtain an absentee ballot. [WAC 135-110-520](#). Also,
782 the conservation district must provide a ballot to any person who requests a ballot. [WAC](#)
783 [135-110-515](#). An eligible voter should declare their eligibility to the district before a request
784 for an absentee ballot can be fulfilled by the district. The declaration by the voter can be

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 785 done in writing, electronically, or orally. A request for an absentee ballot can be made in
786 person, in writing, by telephone, or electronically, by the voter, a family member, or a
787 registered domestic partner. Only one absentee ballot request per voter can be made.
788 Multiple absentee ballots can be sent to the same address, provided that each absentee
789 ballot can be matched to a request by a voter at that address. Sample absentee ballot
790 instructions and a request form are provided in Appendix A.
- 791 l) The conservation district must obtain a current list of registered voters from the County Auditor
792 or Secretary of State for all territory within the conservation district boundary.
- 793 m) The conservation district must be able to show or describe the legal boundary of the
794 conservation district to any voter or to any representative of the Conservation Commission, upon
795 demand.
- 796 3. Before a mail-in (or remote) election
- 797 a) A conservation district holding a mail-in election must appoint an election supervisor and have
798 declared at least one poll site.
- 799 b) Double-envelope voting (or the secure electronic equivalent) is required for mail-in/remote
800 elections.
- 801 i) A double-envelope system meeting the requirements for contested balloting must be used by
802 the conservation district in the mail-in election.
- 803 ii) Provision must be made for the outer envelope to show or contain sufficient information to
804 identify the voter. The voter should print his or her name and address as registered with the
805 County Auditor.
- 806 c) Due notice to voters must provide sufficient time for voters to obtain and return ballots to the
807 conservation district. Allowing at least one week after the second required notice has been
808 published is recommended.
- 809 d) Ballots must be offered to potential voters within the conservation district boundary. To receive
810 a ballot, the voter must request a ballot prior to the current election, unless a district is utilizing
811 [WAC 135-110-515\(4\)](#) (see Section 2(D)2(k)vi above). The election supervisor must verify the voter
812 is a qualified district elector before the ballot is counted.

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

813 4. Immediately after the candidate filing deadline

814 a) The District should verify the eligibility of each candidate to appear on the ballot and serve as a
815 conservation district supervisor. This can be done using Checklist 1 - District Verification of
816 Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor.

Comment [ble4]: Needs page #

817 b) If only the incumbent filed PF-A and PF-B by the candidate filing deadline, the District should
818 determine if it will be automatically re-electing the incumbent through WAC 135-110-370. This
819 can be done using Checklist 2 - Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent.

Formatted

Comment [ble5]: Needs page #

820 5. During a poll-site election

821 a) Conservation district supervisors or staff may assist polling officers, but may not directly issue
822 ballots or count ballots, unless such person is also the election supervisor appointed by the
823 conservation district board of supervisors.

824 b) Each poll site must have a ballot box, signage, and be accessible to voters.

825 i) Each poll site must have at least one ballot box.

826 ii) Each poll site must be conspicuously identified to voters as the place to vote.

827 iii) Poll sites must not create undue hardship for disabled voters.

828 iv) Polling places must be open for a minimum of four hours at a time convenient for voters in
829 that district.

830 c) The conservation district must provide polling officers at each poll site.

831 i) Polling officers must be independent third parties who are not supervisors, employees, or
832 municipal officers of the conservation district holding the election. Further, with WAC 135-
833 110-150 in mind, there is no prohibition against a conservation district supervisor, employee
834 or municipal officer from serving as a polling officer in another districts' election. A
835 conservation district supervisor, employee or municipal officer may not serve as a polling
836 officer in the conservation district election, unless the person is the election supervisor
837 appointed by the conservation district supervisors. WAC 135-110-440. While there is no
838 prohibition against a relative or spouse serving as a polling officer, it is important to keep in
839 mind WAC 135-110-150 which says that conservation districts, employees and supervisors
840 must remain impartial during an election. Therefore, it is recommended that polling officers
841 not be immediate family members or live in the same household of such supervisors,
842 employees, or municipal officers.

843 ii) The election supervisor appointed by the conservation district may serve as a polling officer
844 at one poll site, even if he or she is a supervisor, employee, or municipal officer of the
845 conservation district holding the election. An election supervisor who also serves as a polling
846 officer has all of the responsibilities and duties listed in Section 2.F.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 847 iii) The conservation district must provide at least two polling officers at each poll site, except
848 the election supervisor may substitute for one polling officer at one poll site.
- 849 iv) Individuals hired temporarily to serve as polling officers are not considered employees for the
850 purposes of this section.
- 851 v) Before the polls open, the conservation district must review with polling officers the
852 procedures for verifying voters, issuing ballots, issuing contested ballots, and tallying and
853 recording election results.
- 854 d) Conservation districts must assure privacy in voting.
- 855 i) The ballot choice made by a voter must not be seen by any other person during the act of
856 voting or the placing of the ballot in the ballot box.
- 857 ii) Paper ballots must be placed into ballot boxes. Electronic ballots must assure at least the
858 same level of security and privacy as provided by paper balloting.
- 859 e) The conservation district must not post the names of nominated and declared write-in
860 candidates at the polls. It is the responsibility of candidates to inform the voting public of their
861 candidacy for the office of conservation district supervisor.
- 862 f) The name of a nominated candidate or declared write-in candidate who has submitted a
863 withdrawal of candidacy in writing to the conservation district may not be posted at the polling
864 place. It is the responsibility of candidates to inform the voting public of their status in seeking
865 the office of conservation district supervisor.
- 866 5. After the polls close
- 867 a) One or more conservation district supervisors, or the election supervisor, must receive from
868 polling officers the following:
- 869 i) All poll list pages;
- 870 ii) All ballots;
- 871 iii) A completed [Checklist 3 - Ballot Results](#) for each polling site, absentee ballots and for each
872 type of election held (poll-site or mail-in); and
- 873 iv) All working papers and notes made by polling officers.
- 874 b) When polling officers have transferred all properly completed forms and documents, and all
875 ballots, to a conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor, the polling officers may
876 be excused from their official duty.
- 877 c) The conservation district must transmit to the Conservation Commission information sufficient
878 for the Commission to certify and announce the election result within four weeks of election day.
879 [This is done when the District submits EF2 – Election Report.](#)

Deleted: porting

Deleted: ballot results report

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

- 882 d) The conservation district must retain all original forms, documents, and ballots for 12 months
883 after the election has been certified, at which time they may be destroyed unless the election
884 has not been certified or the election has been contested to the Commission. Conservation
885 districts must abide by [Local Government Common Records Retention Schedule \(CORE\)](#).

886 E. Election Supervisor duties

887 1. Before an election

- 888 a) Confirm that the election resolution has been provided to the Conservation Commission by the
889 candidate filing deadline.
- 890 b) Confirm due notice requirements have been satisfied.
- 891 c) Confirm two polling officers will be present at each poll site. One polling officer and the election
892 supervisor may substitute for the two polling officer requirement at one poll site.
- 893 d) Prepare polling officers to perform the tasks required of them by reviewing these procedures,
894 the poll list form, the ballot results form, and contested balloting, and confirm all required
895 resources are available at each polling place.
- 896 e) Provide absentee ballots upon request; provide absentee ballot information (instructions,
897 deadlines, etc) to voters (see Appendix A); and abide by the double-envelope system for
898 absentee ballots.

899 2. Immediately after the candidate filing deadline

- 900 a) The election supervisor should verify the eligibility of each candidate to appear on the ballot and
901 serve as a conservation district supervisor. This can be done using Checklist 1 - District
902 Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor.
- 903 b) If only the incumbent filed PF-A and PF-B by the candidate filing deadline, the election supervisor
904 should determine if it will be automatically re-electing the incumbent through WAC 135-110-370.
905 This can be done using Checklist 2 - Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent.

Formatted

Comment [ble6]: Needs page #

Formatted: Line spacing: Multiple 1.15 li

Comment [ble7]: Needs page #

906 3. During a poll-site election

- 907 a) A conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor appointed by the conservation
908 district board of supervisors may extend the time polls are open, if needed to accommodate
909 voters or if needed to obtain additional ballots.
- 910 b) The election supervisor may assist polling officers but may not issue ballots in a poll-site election,
911 unless the election supervisor is serving as a polling officer as described in Section D.2.b. Ballots
912 remain in the custody of polling officers at all times during a poll-site election.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 913 c) An election supervisor who also serves as a polling officer has all of the responsibilities and duties
914 listed in Section 2.F.
- 915 4. After the polls close
- 916 a) The election supervisor may assist polling officers, but may not count ballots, unless the election
917 supervisor is serving as a polling officer as described in Section D.2.b.
- 918 b) One or more conservation district supervisors, conservation district employees, Conservation
919 Commission representatives, or members of the public may observe the handling of ballots and
920 the counting of votes, but may not interfere or disrupt the proceedings in any way.
- 921 5. During a mail-in election and / or for absentee ballots
- 922 a) The election supervisor receives and safeguards mail-in or absentee ballots returned by voters.
- 923 i) The election supervisor performs all the tasks as for a poll-site election, and determines if
924 mail-in ballots and / or for absentee ballots are cast by qualified district electors.
- 925 ii) The election supervisor does not count ballots. Polling officers count the ballots.
- 926 b) Double-envelope voting is required for mail-in and / or for absentee ballots elections.
- 927 i) A double-envelope system identical to contested balloting must be used by the conservation
928 district in a mail-in election and for absentee ballots.
- 929 ii) Ballots are to be inserted in an inner envelope and sealed, with no marks or other
930 information that would identify the person voting. The outer envelope should show or
931 contain sufficient information to identify the voter. The name and address of the voter, as
932 shown on the list of registered voters obtained from the County Auditor, is recommended.
- 933 iii) Mail-in and absentee ballots are to be delivered to the election supervisor.
- 934 c) The election supervisor determines if mail-in and absentee ballots votes are submitted by
935 qualified district electors.
- 936 i) As ballots are received from voters, the election supervisor may verify each mail-in and
937 absentee ballot as eligible or disqualified based on the information provided on or in the
938 outer envelope of the mail-in or absentee ballot. Alternatively, the election supervisor may
939 wait until all ballots are received, at which time the eligibility of each voter must be verified
940 before outer envelopes are opened.
- 941 ii) When a voter cannot be verified as eligible to vote in this election from information provided
942 on the outer envelope, the outer envelope should be opened. If, after opening the outer
943 envelope, a voter still cannot be verified as eligible to vote in this election, the ballot must be
944 counted as a disqualified ballot.
- 945 iii) The election supervisor may enlist the help of polling officers in verifying mail-in and
946 absentee ballots as eligible or disqualified.

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

- 947 iv) The election supervisor must not open the inner envelope containing the actual ballot.
948 Polling officers must open and count each ballot that has been verified as having been cast by
949 a qualified district elector.
- 950 v) The inner envelope for each mail-in or absentee ballot found to be cast by a person who is
951 not a qualified district elector must not be opened. However, if it cannot otherwise be
952 determined from an examination of the outer envelope or its contents whether the voter is a
953 qualified district elector, the polling officers may open the inner envelope. If, after opening
954 the inner envelope, a voter still cannot be verified as eligible to vote in the election, the ballot
955 must be counted as a disqualified ballot.

956 F. Polling Officer duties

957 1. Before an election

- 958 a) Review contested ballots: what they are, when they are issued, and how they are counted.
- 959 b) Review the poll list form and [Checklist 3 - Ballot Results](#), and how to complete them.
- 960 c) Confirm these resources are available at each poll site:
- 961 i) Sufficient ballots for the expected number of voters;
 - 962 ii) A reasonable supply of contested ballots (double-envelope system);
 - 963 iii) A ballot box;
 - 964 iv) Voting booth or other means of assuring votes can be cast privately;
 - 965 v) A list of registered voters (voter list);
 - 966 vi) A map or description of the conservation district legal boundary;
 - 967 vii) A copy of these procedures; and
 - 968 viii) Poll list forms and [Checklist 3 - Ballot Results](#).

Deleted: the ballot results reporting form

969 2. During a poll-site election

- 970 a) Polling officers must monitor the voting place for compliance with these procedures, and also
971 serve as guardians of all issued and unissued ballots.
- 972 b) Polling officers verify voters and issue ballots.
- 973 i) A polling officer must verify a voter is a qualified district elector before issuing a ballot to the
974 voter and record that determination on the poll list.
 - 975 ii) At least one polling officer must be present and in control of the ballot box(es) at all times
976 while the polls are open.

Deleted: ballot results reporting forms

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

- 979 iii) At a poll-site election, a contested ballot must be issued if the voter’s eligibility to vote
980 cannot be determined during polling. A voter whose eligibility cannot be determined may
981 only vote on a contested ballot. Contested balloting should be explained to the voter.
982 Following is an example dialog:

983 *At this time, I cannot verify you are a qualified district elector eligible to vote in this*
984 *election. For your vote to be counted, you must be a registered voter living inside the*
985 *boundary of the conservation district.*

986 *Every vote is important, so if you wish to vote, I will issue you a contested ballot so that*
987 *you can vote. Election officials will determine your eligibility to vote after the polls are*
988 *closed and count all ballots.*

989 *The contested ballot is a package consisting of a ballot and two envelopes. After you mark*
990 *the ballot, place it inside one envelope and seal that envelope. Do not make any*
991 *identifying marks on that envelope. Place the sealed envelope inside the second envelope.*

992 *On the outside of the second envelope, print your name and address as used by the*
993 *County Auditor for your voter registration record, then place the completed contested*
994 *ballot package in the ballot box.*

- 995 iv) Polling officers use the poll list to track the identity and number of voters, to identify
996 determinations made by polling officers as to voter eligibility, and to identify voters issued
997 contested ballots.
- 998 v) For absentee ballots received during a poll-site election, polling officer should follow the
999 procedure, as directed by the Election Supervisor, set out in Section E(4) Election Supervisor
1000 Duties above.
- 1001 c) Polling officers are to close the polls at the published time, unless the polls are extended by a
1002 conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor.
- 1003 i) Those who are waiting in line when the polls are scheduled to be closed must be allowed to
1004 check in and vote.
- 1005 ii) Poll times may not be less than advertised.
- 1006 iii) A conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor appointed by the board may
1007 extend the time polls are open, if needed to accommodate voters.

3. After the polls close

- 1008 a) Polling officers open the ballot box or boxes and count the votes cast for each candidate.
- 1009 i) If the election had more than one polling place, polling officers may transport uncounted
1010 ballots in the ballot boxes to a central location for counting.
1011

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 1012 ii) Ballots must remain in the custody of polling officers until counted. Polling officers count all
1013 votes cast. Absentee ballots should be tallied separately from poll-site ballots.
- 1014 iii) All votes must be counted, including eligible votes and disqualified votes.
- 1015 iv) A vote on a contested ballot where the voter is found to be ineligible to vote is to be counted
1016 as a disqualified vote.
- 1017 v) Written marks made on a ballot for a write-in candidate shall be governed by the same
1018 standards as set out in [WAC 434-261-086](#).
- 1019 vi) When verifying a voter who cast a contested ballot, compare the name and address provided
1020 by the voter with the voter list obtained from the County Auditor or Secretary of State.
- 1021 vii) The ballot count results are recorded on Checklist 3 - Ballot Results, which is to be provided
1022 by a polling officer to the election supervisor.
- 1023 b) Record a Checklist 3 - Ballot Results for each type and location of election held (poll-site and
1024 mail-in), and for absentee ballots (if any were received) to a conservation district supervisor or
1025 the election supervisor.
- 1026 c) Surrender all poll list documents, all ballots, all working notes and papers, and all Checklist 3 -
1027 Ballot Results to the election supervisor.
- 1028 d) Polling officers may announce the unofficial results of the election, subject to certification by the
1029 Conservation Commission.
- 1030 4. During a mail-in election
- 1031 a) Polling officers receive each ballot from the election supervisor.
- 1032 i) Each ballot should be sealed inside an envelope.
- 1033 ii) Only one ballot may be in an envelope. If more than one ballot is found inside a single
1034 envelope, all such ballots must be disqualified.
- 1035 iii) A ballot in an unsealed inner envelope may be disqualified.
- 1036 b) Polling officers count votes and verify the ballot count in writing.
- 1037 i) All votes must be counted: eligible, and disqualified. There are no contested ballots in a mail-
1038 in election.
- 1039 ii) Written marks made on a ballot for a write-in candidate shall be governed by the same
1040 standards as set out in [WAC 434-261-086](#).
- 1041 iii) Ballot counts are recorded on Checklist 3 - Ballot Results and reported in total on EF2,
- 1042 c) If the conservation district holds a poll-site election and a mail-in election, polling officers must
1043 count and record ballots separately for each type of election and for absentee ballots (if any

Deleted: reported

Deleted: the ballot results report

Deleted: Provide

Deleted: completed ballot results report

Deleted: ballot results reports

Deleted: the ballot results report form (EF5), which is to be provided by a polling officer to a supervisor of the conservation district holding the election

Deleted: report

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

1054 | were received) and for each poll location. This means a separate [Checklist 3 - Ballot Results](#) must
1055 | be completed for each type of election, absentee ballots, and location of election.

Deleted: ballot results report

1056 | G. Candidate duties

1057 | 1. Before an election

- 1058 | a) Any person wishing to be a candidate must file candidate information ([PF-A](#)) with the
1059 | conservation district by the candidate filing deadline.
- 1060 | b) A candidate wishing to have his or her name pre-printed on the official ballot must provide a
1061 | qualified nominating petition ([PF-B](#)) signed by at least 25 qualified district electors to the
1062 | conservation district by the candidate filing deadline. [Use as many pages of PF-B as needed to](#)
1063 | [achieve the 25 qualified district electors.](#) The election supervisor will verify nominators on the
1064 | nominating petition.
- 1065 | c) If the incumbent on the conservation district board who currently holds the elected office subject
1066 | to the current years' election provides candidate information ([PF-A](#)) by the candidate filing
1067 | deadline, the incumbent will be eligible to be re-elected. However, under [WAC 135-110-340](#),
1068 | unless the incumbent obtains the 25 qualified nominating signatures ([PF-B](#)), the incumbent's
1069 | name will not appear on the ballot. In order for the incumbent's name to appear on the election
1070 | ballot, the incumbent must file both [PF-A](#) and [PF-B](#) by the candidate filing deadline, and [PF-B](#)
1071 | must have at least 25 qualified nominating signatures. Only after an incumbent correctly files
1072 | both forms with the District will the District place the incumbent's name on the official ballot.
1073 | Furthermore, a District wherein an incumbent files only candidate information ([PF-A](#)) and not the
1074 | 25 qualified nominating signatures ([PF-B](#)) cannot use [WAC 135-110-370](#) to automatically re-elect
1075 | the incumbent.
- 1076 | d) Should a candidate wish to withdraw his or her candidacy, written notice to that effect must be
1077 | provided to the conservation district before Election Day. Notice by any other means will be
1078 | considered invalid. If the candidate is running as a nominated candidate and ballots have already
1079 | been printed, the conservation district is not obligated to reprint ballots to remove the
1080 | withdrawn candidate's name.
- 1081 | e) It is the responsibility of a candidate to inform voters of the candidate's desire and qualifications
1082 | to be elected to the office of conservation district supervisor. A conservation district may provide
1083 | equal opportunity and equivalent space to candidates for this purpose but are not required to do
1084 | so. Such information must not be provided within 300 feet of polls on Election Day.
- 1085 | f) Every candidate must be eligible to be elected to, and hold the office of, conservation district
1086 | supervisor on the day of the filing of candidate information with the conservation district.

Deleted: 5

- 1088 2. During a poll-site election
- 1089 a) Candidates may not seek to influence voters to vote for or against a specific candidate within 300
- 1090 feet of ballot box(es).
- 1091 b) Candidates may observe an election while the polls are open but may not interfere with voters or
- 1092 polling officers.
- 1093 c) Candidates may observe the counting of ballots but may not interfere with polling officers or the
- 1094 election supervisor.
- 1095 3. After the polls close
- 1096 a) Candidates may not disrupt or interfere with polling officers.
- 1097 b) Candidates may observe the counting of votes.
- 1098 c) The supervisor-elect becomes a municipal officer upon certification of the election by the
- 1099 Conservation Commission.

1100 H. Nominator duties

- 1101 1. Before an election
- 1102 a) Persons signing a nominating petition (**PF-B**) must be registered voters residing within the
- 1103 boundary of the conservation district holding the election.
- 1104 b) Information provided on the nominating petition must be legible or it cannot be counted.
- 1105 c) Nominators may sign a nominating petition for more than one candidate.
- 1106 d) Nominators may only sign a candidate's nominating petition once.
- 1107 e) A nominator's signature is not a vote for the candidate. Signing the nominating petition is a
- 1108 request that the candidate's name be pre-printed on the official ballot.

1109 I. Voter duties

- 1110 1. During a poll-site election
- 1111 a) No voter may seek to influence any other voters within 300 feet of the ballot box(es).
- 1112 b) A voter may observe an election but may not interfere with voters or polling officers.
- 1113 c) A voter must sign in on a poll list and provide sufficient information for a polling officer to
- 1114 determine the individual's eligibility to vote.
- 1115 d) Before receiving a ballot, the identity of a voter must be verified by a polling officer. Acceptable
- 1116 forms of voter identification include:
- 1117 i) Valid Washington State driver's license or Valid Washington State identification card; or

Deleted: f

1118 ii) Any other identification allowed for registering to vote by the Auditor of the County where
1119 the conservation district is located.

1120 e) A voter who cannot be confirmed at the polling place as eligible to vote may vote, but only on a
1121 contested ballot issued by a polling officer.

1122 2. After the polls close

1123 a) Voters and other citizens may not disrupt or interfere with polling officers.

1124 J. Non-standard election outcomes

1125 1. Incumbent automatically reelected if no other person files. [WAC 135-110-370](#). [To determine if an](#)
1126 [incumbent is automatically reelected to another three-year term, please use Checklist 2 –](#)
1127 [Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent](#).

1128 a) When all provisions of [WAC 135-110-370](#) are met, a district is required to cancel the election.
1129 This can be done with or without formal board action.

1130 i) Without formal board action: Under [WAC 135-110-230](#), a District Board of Supervisors must
1131 appoint an Election Supervisor. That Election Supervisor is empowered by the Board,
1132 through [WAC 135-110-230](#), to conduct all operations of the election, including the
1133 determination and operation of automatically re-electing the incumbent (provided the terms
1134 of [WAC 135-110-370](#) are met). Therefore, the appointed Election Supervisor can proceed to
1135 cancel an election provided all the conditions of [WAC 135-110-370](#) are met. Ultimately, as
1136 [WAC 135-110-230\(3\)](#) notes, the Board is responsible for the actions of the Election
1137 Supervisor.

1138 ii) With formal board action: the board of supervisors may choose to proceed with cancelling
1139 an election (provided that all provisions of [WAC 135-110-370](#) are met), by passing a
1140 resolution so stating and in compliance with [WAC 135-110-370](#).

1141 2. Undeclared write-in candidate may be elected if no person files. [WAC 135-110-360](#).

1142 a) If no person has filed by the filing deadline, or if the election supervisor finds ineligible all persons
1143 who filed, then only undeclared write-in candidates may be elected.

1144 i) The undeclared write-in candidate, deemed the unofficial winner, must submit required
1145 candidate information to the conservation district, and

1146 ii) Within four weeks (twenty-eight calendar days) following the first date of election, the
1147 election supervisor must verify the eligibility of the unofficial winner to be elected and to
1148 serve. [This is done using Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the](#)
1149 [Office of Elected Supervisor and by filling out EF2.](#)

1150 iii) If the conservation district is unable to verify eligibility of the unofficial winner within four
1151 weeks of the election, the unofficial winner is disqualified. The person receiving the next

Comment [ble8]: Need page #

Deleted: <#>¶
<#>The incumbent is automatically reelected to another three-year term if: ¶
<#>Due notice of the election resolution and the election have been duly published by the conservation district; ¶
<#>The information in the election resolution been published, at least twice, a week apart, the first time being at least one week before the candidate filing deadline and the second at least one day before the candidate filing deadline; ¶
<#>The date, time, place and manner of the election been published, at least twice, a week apart, the first time being at least one week before the candidate filing deadline and the second at least one day before the candidate filing deadline; ¶
<#>The only person filing by the candidate filing deadline is the incumbent;¶
<#>At the time of filing, the incumbent was a qualified district elector (at the time of filing, the incumbent was a registered voter in the county where the district is located and a resident within the conservation district boundary);¶
<#>At the time of filing, and on or before the candidate filing deadline, the incumbent submitted to the conservation district PF-A, information including:¶
<#>The name of the conservation district;¶
<#>The incumbent's name, residential address, mailing address (if different), and phone number;¶
<#>Whether the person is a registered voter in the county where the conservation district is located;¶
<#>Whether the person resides inside the conservation district boundary;¶
<#>Whether the person is a landowner or an operator of a farm; and¶
<#>The dated signature of the incumbent attesting to the accuracy of the information so provided. ¶
<#>At least 25 qualified nominating signatures (PF-B) are provided by the candidate filing deadline. If 25 qualified nominating signatu...

Deleted: Upon completion of EF3 (w

Deleted:)

Deleted: and EF3 completed.

Deleted: and EF3 complete

Comment [ble9]: Need page #

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 1283 highest vote count must then submit required candidate information and the conservation
1284 district must verify his or her eligibility as described above.
- 1285 iv) If the undeclared write-in candidate who is the unofficial winner is found ineligible and no
1286 other persons received votes, the Conservation Commission will officially announce another
1287 full term of office for the incumbent on the third Thursday in May, but only upon verification
1288 by the conservation district of the eligibility of the incumbent to serve in the office of elected
1289 conservation district supervisor.
- 1290 b) Written marks made on a ballot for a write-in candidate shall be governed by the same standards
1291 as set out in [WAC 434-261-086](#).
- 1292 3. Election results in a tie. [WAC 135-110-730](#).
- 1293 a) In the case of two or more eligible candidates receiving the most votes, and each receives an
1294 equal number of votes, the conservation district must recount the ballots.
- 1295 b) Conservation district supervisors may perform the recount at a regular or special meeting of the
1296 conservation district board of supervisors, or may charge polling officers with this duty.
- 1297 c) If a tie is verified by the recount, the winner of the election must be determined by drawing of
1298 names as provided under [RCW 29A.60.221](#) to ensure the drawing is equitable to all affected
1299 candidates.
- 1300 i) If no more than two candidates are tied, a coin toss may be used in lieu of drawing names to
1301 determine the unofficial winner.
- 1302 ii) If more than two candidates are tied, only a drawing of names may be used to determine the
1303 unofficial winner.
- 1304 iii) A representative of the Conservation Commission must be present for any drawing of names
1305 or coin toss.
- 1306 d) The candidate whose name is drawn (or who wins the coin toss) becomes the supervisor-elect.
- 1307 4. No eligible candidate elected. [WAC 135-110-740](#).
- 1308 a) When no eligible candidate is elected, the Conservation Commission will officially announce
1309 another full term of office for the incumbent on the third Thursday in May, but only upon
1310 verification by the conservation district of the eligibility of the incumbent to serve in the office of
1311 elected conservation district supervisor. [This is done using Checklist 1 - District Verification of](#)
1312 [Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor and by filling out EF2.](#)
- 1313 b) If the conservation district determines the incumbent conservation district supervisor is no
1314 longer eligible to serve in the office of elected conservation district supervisor, or if the
1315 incumbent has resigned, the position is deemed vacant and the conservation district may
1316 appoint an eligible successor following the official announcement by the Conservation
1317 Commission.

Comment [ble10]: Need page #

Deleted: 5

K. Emergencies

1. Emergency relocation or rescheduling of election

- a) A conservation district may not change the date(s) or location(s) of poll sites unless an emergency exists.
- b) A conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor may declare an emergency when adverse conditions may negatively affect the health or safety of voters or the timely return of absentee ballots. Such conditions may include, but are not limited to:
 - i) Hazardous weather conditions;
 - i) Damage to roads, buildings, or other infrastructure;
 - ii) Chemical spills;
 - iii) Fire and smoke; or
 - iv) Volcanic eruption, earthquake, landslides, mudflows, and floods.
- c) When an emergency is so declared, the conservation district should attempt to inform all conservation district supervisors and candidates listed on the ballot.
- d) When a polling site is changed in response to an emergency, and the election date is not changed, signage sufficient to notify potential voters must be provided to redirect voters to the new polling site(s). Poll times should be extended to allow for additional travel time to the relocated polls.
- e) When the election date is changed in response to an emergency, the conservation district should first seek to provide due notice to inform the public of the change. If due notice is not possible, the conservation district should take reasonable measures to inform the public of the change. Reasonable measures may include, but are not limited to: announcements on local radio or television; posting on web pages; announcements in newspapers; and posting of handbills or flyers.
- f) When one or more polling sites are changed and the date is changed in response to an emergency, the conservation district should perform the actions described above in subparts (d) and (e).
- g) The Conservation Commission must be informed of all emergency changes to poll locations or dates before voting begins.

Deleted: f

SECTION 3: APPOINTMENTS

A. Information required

1. Only an application form provided by the Conservation Commission on its web site may be used to apply for the position of appointed supervisor. The application for appointed supervisor ([AF1 – Conservation District Appointed Supervisor Application](#)) can be found at [on the Commission’s web page \(http://scc.wa.gov/elections/\)](#) or [here](#).
2. The [AF1 – Conservation District Appointed Supervisor Application](#) must be filled out in its entirety in order for the applicant to be considered for appointment.

Deleted: appointed supervisor application

B. Forms and reports required

1. Conservation districts must provide proof to the Conservation Commission that it has complied with the requirement to notify the community of the opportunity to apply for an appointed conservation district supervisor position. Proof must be documented on [EF2](#). Copies of advertisements are no longer required to be sent to the Commission, but should be retained by the district.

Deleted: EF4

Applicants for appointment must submit the appointment application using form [AF1](#). The [AF1](#) form can be obtained from the [Commission’s web page \(http://scc.wa.gov/elections/\)](#) or [here](#). Letters of recommendation, resumes, and other items do not need to be included with the application. Late applications and associated documents cannot be considered. The Conservation Commission will not consider applications submitted by someone other than the applicant.

Deleted: Commission’s web site at http://scc.wa.gov/elections/

- a) For appointment to a full term of office
 - i) Applications and supporting materials must be received by the Commission no later than **March 31**.
 - ii) If an incumbent holding the office of appointed conservation district supervisor wishes to be reappointed, the incumbent must reapply for appointment. This clearly identifies to the Conservation Commission the wishes of the incumbent, and allows the Conservation Commission to verify the eligibility of the incumbent to continue his or her service.
- b) For appointment to a partial or mid-term term of office
 - i) In consultation with the Conservation Commission, the conservation district will establish a deadline for applications and publicize that date.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: 5

C. Conservation Commission duties

1. The Conservation Commission must notify affected parties.
 - a) The Conservation Commission must notify each conservation district of upcoming vacancies in the position of appointed conservation district supervisor by September 1 of the year prior to the terms expiration.
 - b) The Conservation Commission must notify each appointed supervisor whose term is expiring by January 15 of the year in which the term expires.
2. The Conservation Commission must make these procedures and the application form available on its web site.
3. The Conservation Commission must provide a list of prospective applicants to the conservation district prior to the Conservation Commission making an appointment.
4. The Conservation Commission may supplement at its cost any conservation district notice or advertising for applicants for appointed supervisor.
5. The Conservation Commission will vet each applicant with the Department of Ecology and Department of Agriculture. Applicants with prior or pending enforcement action against them may be ineligible to serve.
6. In the event no applications are submitted from qualified applicants for a conservation district, the Conservation Commission may seek qualified applicants from the community served by the conservation district. The Commission may contact each district which received no applications and offer an option to re-advertise the open appointed position for a four week period. If the district declines this option, the Commission will seek qualified applicants itself. Applications received as a result of the second round of advertising will be processed as soon as possible by the Commission.
7. Conservation Commission procedures for full-term appointments.
 - a) Full-term appointments will be made annually at the regular Conservation Commission meeting to be held the third Thursday in May of each year.
 - b) The term of office will be three years. The term of office for a full-term appointment will expire on the third Thursday of May three years following the appointment.
 - c) Prior to the May meeting of the Conservation Commission Board, the Conservation Commission will evaluate all applications received by March 31 in the year the position is open for appointment.
 - d) The Conservation Commission will evaluate the suitability and capability of all applicants for the position of appointed supervisor.

- 1412 e) A Conservation Commission representative will contact the conservation district board chair,
1413 vice-chair, and district manager from the affected conservation district prior to the Conservation
1414 Commission making the appointment.
- 1415 f) The Conservation Commission will notify all applicants, including those not appointed, of the
1416 appointments made at its May meeting.
- 1417 g) The Conservation Commission must notify each conservation district of the appointments made
1418 following the May meeting.
- 1419 8. Conservation Commission procedures for mid-term appointments.
- 1420 a) The term of office will be until the end of the original full-term.
- 1421 b) To assure continuity of district operations and effectiveness in administering the authorized
1422 conservation program of the conservation district, the Conservation Commission may act on an
1423 application for mid-term appointment at any time, as determined solely by the Conservation
1424 Commission.
- 1425 c) The Conservation Commission will evaluate the suitability and capability of all applicants for the
1426 position of appointed supervisor.
- 1427 d) A Conservation Commission representative will contact a conservation district supervisor from
1428 the affected conservation district prior to the Conservation Commission making the
1429 appointment.
- 1430 e) The Conservation Commission will notify all applicants, including those not appointed, of the
1431 mid-term appointments made.
- 1432 f) The Conservation Commission will notify each conservation district of the mid-term
1433 appointments made.

1434 **D. Conservation District duties**

- 1435 1. Conservation districts must provide due notice to citizens of the opportunity to apply for
1436 appointment to a full term of office as a conservation district supervisor.
- 1437 a) Notices should be published at least several weeks before the application deadline.
- 1438 b) Copies of published notices shall be retained at the district for at least one year, and may be
1439 inspected at any time during that year by the Commission.
- 1440 c) Notices for elections and appointments may be combined.
- 1441 2. Notices to the public must include at least the following information:
- 1442 a) There is an upcoming vacant or unexpired appointed supervisor position.
- 1443 b) An applicant must be a registered voter in the state of Washington.

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

- 1444 c) Applicants may be required to be landowners or operators of a farm, depending on the current
1445 composition of the conservation district board of supervisors.
- 1446 d) A conservation district supervisor sets policy and direction for the conservation district.
- 1447 e) A conservation district supervisor is a public official who serves without compensation.
- 1448 f) Application forms may be obtained from the Conservation Commission website.
- 1449 3. Deadlines for applications vary
- 1450 a) For full-term appointments, the deadline for applications and associated materials to be received
1451 by the Conservation Commission in Lacey, Washington, is **March 31**.
- 1452 b) For partial or mid-term appointments, the conservation district must consult with the
1453 Conservation Commission to determine an appropriate due date, and then publish that date.
- 1454 4. Conservation district procedures for a full-term appointment.
- 1455 a) The application period is January 1 through March 31 in the year the appointment is to occur.
- 1456 b) The conservation district must notify the newly appointed supervisor of the date and time of the
1457 next meeting of its board of supervisors.
- 1458 5. Conservation district procedures for mid-term appointments
- 1459 a) The conservation district must consult with the Conservation Commission in determining an
1460 appropriate application period and deadline for applications.
- 1461 b) The application period must be at least four weeks (28 calendar days) in duration.
- 1462 c) The conservation district must select a reasonable deadline for applications to be received by the
1463 Conservation Commission, preferably at least four weeks before the regular Conservation
1464 Commission meeting at which the conservation district wishes the appointment to be made.
- 1465 d) A conservation district may extend the deadline for applications upon consultation with, and
1466 agreement by, the Conservation Commission. Due notice of the extended deadline must be
1467 provided by the conservation district.
- 1468 e) The conservation district must notify a newly appointed supervisor of the date and time of the
1469 next meeting of its board of supervisors.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: <#>A conservation district is not required to provide due notice, but should strive to do so unless an emergency exists that calls for immediate filling of the vacant office.¶

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

E. Applicant duties

1. Applicants for the position of appointed supervisor of a conservation district must be registered voters in Washington State.

2. Applicants may obtain an application form (AF1) from the Washington State Conservation Commission's website at <http://www.scc.wa.gov/elections/or here>.

Deleted:

3. Applicant procedures for full-term appointments.

a) Applications and supporting materials must be received by the Commission no later than **March 31**.

Formatted: Font: Bold

b) An applicant becomes a municipal officer of the conservation district upon formal appointment by the Conservation Commission.

c) Newly appointed supervisors may begin performing the duties required of conservation district supervisors at the next regular or special meeting of the conservation district board of supervisors following appointment by the Conservation Commission.

4. Applicant procedures for mid-term appointments.

a) An applicant becomes a municipal officer of the conservation district upon appointment to office by the Conservation Commission.

b) Newly appointed supervisors may begin performing the duties required of conservation district supervisors at the next regular or special meeting of the conservation district board of supervisors following appointment by the Conservation Commission.

Deleted: 5

SECTION 4: VACANCY, REMOVAL, AND REPLACEMENT

A. Only vacant offices may be filled – [WAC 135-110-900](#)

1. The office of conservation district supervisor may not be filled by election or appointment unless the term of office has expired, or the position has been immediately vacated as described in this section, or the Conservation Commission has declared the position vacant.

B. Supervisors must be eligible to serve – [WAC 135-110-910](#)

1. A conservation district supervisor must be eligible to serve in the office of conservation district supervisor throughout the term of office.
2. If an incumbent no longer meets the minimum eligibility requirements to serve as a conservation district supervisor, the office is deemed vacant.

C. Resignation from office – [WAC 135-110-920](#)

1. A conservation district supervisor may resign from public office at any time, and for any reason.
2. Resignations must be made in writing to the Conservation Commission or to the conservation district.
3. Resignations are effective on the date received, unless the incumbent has specified a future date for the resignation to become effective.

D. Ceasing to be a registered voter – [WAC 135-110-930](#)

1. The office held by an elected conservation district supervisor is immediately vacant upon that supervisor no longer meeting the definition of a qualified district elector.
2. The office held by an appointed conservation district supervisor is immediately vacant upon that supervisor no longer being a registered voter in the state of Washington.

E. Death of the supervisor – [WAC 135-110-940](#)

1. The office held by a conservation district supervisor is immediately vacant upon the death of the supervisor.

Deleted: f

1519 **F. Declaration voiding an election or appointment – WAC 135-110-**
1520 **950**

- 1521 1. The office held by a conservation district supervisor is vacant upon the decision of a competent
1522 tribunal declaring void his or her election or appointment.

1523 **G. Removal from office – WAC 135-110-960**

- 1524 1. As provided in RCW 89.08.200, a conservation district supervisor may be removed from office by the
1525 conservation commission governing board upon notice and hearing for neglect of duty or
1526 malfeasance.
- 1527 2. The conservation commission must provide notice to the supervisor detailing the specific elements
1528 of the neglect of duty or malfeasance for which removal is sought. The supervisor shall be given the
1529 opportunity to respond in writing to the elements contained in the notice within thirty days of the
1530 notice to the supervisor from the conservation commission. Notice to the supervisor from the
1531 conservation commission shall be by certified mailing to the address of record for that supervisor.
- 1532 3. The conservation commission must hold at least one public hearing no earlier than sixty days from
1533 the date of certified mailing to the supervisor in the area served by the conservation district
1534 supervisor before acting to remove the incumbent from office.
- 1535 4. Following the public hearing, the conservation commission shall vote on the removal of the
1536 supervisor based on official findings of fact detailing the cause or causes of removal.

1537 **H. Replacement – WAC 135-110-970**

- 1538 1. Elected Supervisor Replacement: a vacancy in the office of elected conservation district supervisor is
1539 filled by the conservation district board of supervisors for the remainder of the unexpired term,
1540 subject to the verification of supervisor qualifications by the conservation commission. Districts
1541 should adopt a policy for mid-term replacement of elected supervisors. A sample policy is provided
1542 in Appendix E -Sample Elected Board Positions – Mid-Term Appointments. Notice must be given of
1543 the appointment as soon as practicable by the District to the Commission. Please remember that
1544 any appointee to a vacant elected supervisor position must still be eligible to serve under WAC 135-
1545 110-910. Therefore, depending on the current make-up of the board of supervisors, an appointee to
1546 a vacant elected supervisor position may be required to be a landowner or farm operator at the time
1547 of appointment. Districts should make this determination before appointing someone to fill the
1548 vacant elected supervisor position by using form AF2 - Mid-Term Elected Position Appointment
1549 Verifications of Qualifications. At least two of the three elected conservation district supervisors on

Deleted: A

Deleted: While due notice to the affected community is strongly recommended, it is not required.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

1554 the conservation district board must be landowners or operators of farms. The definition of
1555 landowner and farm operator is set out in [WAC 135-110-110](#).

1556 a) The conservation district must consult with the Conservation Commission in determining an
1557 appropriate application period and deadline for applications.

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0" + Indent at:
0.25"

1558 b) The application period must be at least four weeks (28 calendar days) in duration.

1559 c) The conservation district must select a reasonable deadline for applications to be received.

1560 d) A conservation district may extend the deadline for applications upon consultation with, and
1561 agreement by, the Conservation Commission. Due notice of the extended deadline must be
1562 provided by the conservation district.

1563 2. Appointed Supervisor Replacement: a vacancy in the office of appointed conservation district
1564 supervisor is filled by the Conservation Commission for the remainder of the unexpired term. The
1565 conservation district must publish due notice of the vacancy.

Deleted: A

Deleted: may

1566 a) Conservation Commission requirements are identified in Section 3.C.8 of these procedures.

1567 b) Conservation district requirements are identified in Section 3.D.6 of these procedures.

Formatted: Heading 1

1568

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

Appendix A - Sample Absentee Ballot

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

[INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District
[INSERT ADDRESS, PHONE, EMAIL]

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold

PLEASE READ THESE IMPORTANT VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Dear registered voter:

Thank you for participating in our election by requesting an absentee ballot for the [INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District Board of Supervisor Election, which will be held on [INSERT DATE].

TYPES OF CANDIDATES:

Per WAC 134-110-350, there are three types of candidates:

- (1) A declared candidate is a qualified district elector who has submitted a candidate information form to the conservation district by the filing deadline, but has not submitted a qualified nomination petition signed by 25 registered voters. The name of this type of candidate will not appear on the ballot.
- (2) A declared nominated candidate is a qualified district elector who has submitted a candidate information form and a qualified nominating petition signed by 25 registered voters to the conservation district by the filing deadline. The name of this type of candidate will appear on the ballot.
- (3) An undeclared write-in candidate is a qualified district elector who has not submitted a candidate information form nor a qualified nomination petition signed by 25 registered voters to the conservation district by the filing deadline. Per WAC 135-110-360 an undeclared write-in candidate may only win if no candidates have filed by the candidate filing deadline or all the candidates who have filed have been found ineligible.

CANDIDATES IN THIS ELECTION:

[INSERT DESCRIPTION OF CANDIDATES IN THIS ELECTION].

BALLOT SYSTEM:

Our absentee ballot system is a two-envelope system to ensure the confidentiality of your vote. Complete the ballot and the attest statement and voter information form. Place only your completed ballot inside the smaller secrecy envelope being sure there are no identifying markings on the outside of the envelope then seal the envelope. If there is more than one ballot in the secrecy envelope or the secrecy envelope is not sealed, the ballot may be disqualified.

Place the sealed secrecy envelope and the attest statement and voter information form into the larger envelope, which has our address preprinted in the addressee area of the envelope. The information on the attest statement and information form will be used to verify whether or not you are a registered Washington state voter living in [INSERT COUNTY NAME] County. If we cannot find your name on the voter rolls because you have used a nickname or you have moved and not updated your registration with the County, your ballot will be contested. Seal the outer envelope and write your name and return address in the upper left corner of the envelope.

Your absentee ballot must be received by the Conservation District by mail or in person no later than [INSERT TIME] on [INSERT DATE] (WAC 135-110-110). Ballots post marked earlier, but received in the mail after [INSERT TIME] on [INSERT DATE] cannot be counted.

Conservation district election procedures are set by the Washington State Conservation Commission and are governed under WAC Chapter 135-110. If you have any further questions about the election procedures, please call the conservation district.

Sincerely,
[INSERT NAME]
Election Supervisor

[Page 1 of 3]

Deleted: 5

[INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District

1. Complete the ballot.
2. Place your completed ballot into the smaller secrecy envelope with no identifying marks.
3. Seal the secrecy envelope with only your ballot in it.
4. Complete the attest statement and voter information form.
5. Place the sealed secrecy envelope and the attest statement and voter information form into the larger white envelope with the [INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District address in the addressee area of the envelope.
6. Write your name and address in the upper left hand corner of the larger white envelope.
7. Bring or mail the larger white envelope to the [INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District office at [INSERT ADDRESS]. It must be received no later than [INSERT TIME] on [INSERT DATE].

[Page 2 of 3]

Election and Appointment Procedures



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

For Conservation District Supervisors

Deleted: f

[INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District

Attest Statement and Voter Eligibility Information

I swear under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that I reasonably believe that I am a registered voter of Washington state and that I reside within the [INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District boundaries.

Signature

Voter Eligibility Information:

Print your name clearly as it appears on your County voter registration:

First Name	Middle Initial	Last Name
_____	_____	_____

Print your address as it appears on your County voter registration:

Physical home address:

House number	Street	Unit #
_____	_____	_____

City

Mailing address (if different from physical home address):

PO Box Number or House Number	Street	Unit #
_____	_____	_____

City Phone Number

We will only call you if we are having difficulty verifying that you are a registered Washington state voter living in _____ County.

We may not be able to count your vote if

- You are not a registered Washington state voter living in [INSERT COUNTY NAME] County. (This will be verified by checking the [INSERT COUNTY NAME] County Auditor's voter rolls.)
- We cannot read your name and address on this form.
- Anything except the ballot is inside the secrecy envelope.
- The secrecy ballot is not sealed.
- The name or address on this form is different from the one on the [INSERT COUNTY NAME] County Auditor's voter rolls.

[Page 3 of 3]

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

1699
1700
1701
1702
1703
1704
1705
1706
1707
1708
1709
1710
1711
1712
1713
1714
1715
1716
1717
1718
1719
1720
1721
1722
1723
1724
1725
1726
1727
1728
1729
1730
1731
1732
1733
1734
1735
1736
1737
1738
1739
1740
1741
1742
1743

[INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District

[INSERT ADDRESS, PHONE, EMAIL]

Board of Supervisor Election Absentee Ballot Request

I, _____, a registered voter of [INSERT COUNTY NAME]
(printed first name, middle initial, last name as it appears on your voter registration card)

County, WA living at _____
number street City

request in person, in writing, by telephone, or electronically, by the voter, a family member, or a registered domestic partner, that an absentee ballot for the Conservation District Board of Supervisors election be mailed to me at the following address:

Mailing address (If the same as above, please write same.):

Signature [check here if the request was by telephone or electronically]

Day Time Phone Number: _____

Email (optional) _____

Absentee ballot requests made in person, by phone or by email must be received by the [INSERT DISTRICT NAME] Conservation District no later than [INSERT TIME] on [INSERT DATE] to be completed.

Completed ballots may be mailed or dropped off, but must be received by [INSERT TIME], [INSERT DATE] at [INSERT LOCATION OR ADDRESS].

If you have any questions, call our office at [INSERT TELEPHONE NUMBER].

Deleted: 5

1744 Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples

1745
1746 Please refer to Section 2.D.2.e and Section 3.D.2 for specific requirements about minimum content in notices
1747 published for elections and appointments.

1748 We recommend providing notices to the pool of potential candidates long before the election, announcing
1749 vacancies and seeking candidates.

1750
1751 Sample announcement of a vacancy:

The Ledgerwood Conservation District is pleased to announce an opportunity to contribute to conservation and your community by serving on the Board of Supervisors. Supervisors are public officials who direct the activities of the conservation district. Although they serve without compensation, they are eligible to be reimbursed for appropriate expenses. For more information, please contact the Ledgerwood Conservation District or visit the Washington State Conservation Commission website at <http://www.scc.wa.gov/>

1752
1753 Sample notice of intent to adopt an election resolution that meets the traditional minimum requirements:

The Ledgerwood Conservation District Board of Supervisors will hold a meeting at [time] on [month] [day], [year] at [address] location to adopt a resolution setting the date, time, and location of an election to fill a Conservation District Supervisor's expiring term.

1754
1755 Sample notice of intent to adopt an election resolution that meets the NEW web site requirements:

The Ledgerwood Conservation District Board of Supervisors will hold a meeting at [time] on [month] [day], [year] at [address] location to adopt a resolution setting the date, time, and location of an election to fill a Conservation District Supervisor's expiring term. Please note: future election information will be posted ONLY on the Ledgerwood Conservation District web site (INSERT WEB SITE URL).

1756
1757 Sample adopted election resolution notice that meets minimum requirements:

A [insert type: mail, poll-site, electronic] election for a board seat on the Ledgerwood Conservation District will be held on [month] [day], [year] at [address] location. Polls will open at [time] and close at [time]. Registered voters who reside within the Conservation District boundary are eligible to vote. Candidates must be registered voters residing in the conservation district, and may be required to own land or operate a farm. The candidate filing deadline is [date] at [time]. Elections procedures are available at the district office. Absentee ballots are available upon request for eligible voters, but must be requested on or

Deleted: f

Formatted: Heading 1, Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Deleted: B¶
¶
Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

before [time] on [month] [day], [year]. Please contact the District office at [phone] or at the District office at [address] for absentee ballots or if you have any questions.

1761

1762 **Sample appointment announcement that meets minimum requirements for a full-term appointment:**

Formatted: Font: Calibri

A board seat on the Ledgerwood Conservation District is available for appointment by the Washington State Conservation Commission. Conservation district board supervisors are public officials who serve without compensation and set policy and direction for the conservation district. An applicant must be a registered voter in Washington State, and may be required to own land or operate a farm. Applicants for appointed positions do not have to live within the district to apply. For more information, or to obtain an application form, please contact the Ledgerwood Conservation District or visit the Conservation Commission website at <http://www.scc.wa.gov/>. Applications and supporting materials must be received by the Commission no later than March 31, [year].

1763

1764 **Sample Board-Authorized Automatic Re-Election of the Incumbent notice.** Note: use this notice only if your
1765 Board of Supervisors, at a regular or special meeting, passed a resolution cancelling the election due to the
1766 automatic re-election of the incumbent, in compliance with [WAC 135-110-370](#);

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri

The Ledgerwood Conservation District Board of Supervisors resolved on [day], [year] to proceed with informing the voting public that the incumbent has been re-elected to the currently open seat by reason of being the only person filing for the position by the filing deadline. Therefore, no poll site, absentee balloting or mail balloting will be performed pursuant to WAC 135-110-370. For further information, please contact the District at [phone].

1767

1768 **Sample Automatic Re-Election of the Incumbent notice.** Note: use this notice if your Election Supervisor has
1769 chosen to cancel the election due to the automatic re-election of the incumbent without a formal resolution from
1770 your Board of Supervisors, in compliance with [WAC 135-110-370](#);

Deleted: ¶
¶

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, Font color: Auto

Field Code Changed

Formatted: Font: Calibri

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri

The Ledgerwood Conservation District Board of Supervisors hereby informs the voting public that the incumbent has been re-elected to the currently open seat by reason of being the only person filing for the position by the filing deadline. Therefore, no poll site, absentee balloting or mail balloting will be performed pursuant to WAC 135-110-370. For further information, please contact the District at [phone].

1771

1772 **Below are two different examples of signs to post on election day, in order for a district to comply with [WAC 135-](#)**
1773 **[110-370](#).**

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures

For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

1777 **Example #1** (use this sign if your Board of Supervisors, at a regular or special meeting, issued a resolution
1778 regarding the automatic re-election of the incumbent):

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri

1779 *"Pursuant to WAC 135-110-370, no poll site, absentee balloting or mail balloting will be performed. The XYZ Conservation*
1780 *District Board of Supervisors resolved on [day], [year] to proceed with informing the voting public that the incumbent has been*
1781 *re-elected to the currently open seat by reason of being the only person filing for the position by the filing deadline. For further*
1782 *information, please contact the District at [phone]."*

1783 **Example #2** (use this sign if your Election Supervisor has chosen to proceed without a formal resolution from your

Formatted: Font: Calibri

1784 Board of Supervisors regarding the automatic re-election of the incumbent):

Formatted: Font: Calibri, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri

1786 *"Pursuant to WAC 135-110-370, no poll site, absentee balloting or mail balloting will be performed. The XYZ Conservation*
1787 *District Board of Supervisors hereby informs the voting public that the incumbent has been re-elected to the currently open seat*
1788 *by reason of being the only person filing for the position by the filing deadline. For further information, please contact the District*
1789 *at [phone]."*

1790

1791

1792

1793

1794

1795

1796

1797

1798

1799

1800

1801

1802

1803

Formatted: Heading 1

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

Appendix C – Sample Candidate Information Template

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto

Deleted: ¶
Sample Candidate Information Template

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, No underline,
Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold, No
underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Background:

[WAC 135-110-430](#) allows a district to publish candidate-provided information (a candidate statement). To assist voters in the selection of a candidate during voting, a conservation district may publish information provide by a nominator or declared write-in candidate. See also this manual, pg 21. Further, if the district chooses to publish information about candidates, it must provide equal opportunity for publication and equivalent space to each candidate. [WAC 135-110-430](#). The full text of [WAC 135-110-430](#) is below:

[WAC 135-110-430](#)

Conservation district may publish candidate-provided information.

(1) To assist voters in the selection of a candidate during voting, a conservation district may publish information provided by nominated and declared write-in candidates.

(2) If a conservation district chooses to publish information about candidates, it must provide equal opportunity for publication and equivalent space to each nominated and declared write-in candidate.

(3) Candidate information provided by candidates and published by the conservation district may be mailed or delivered to voters before election day, but may not be provided to voters at poll sites on election day.

Districts who wish to allow candidates to publish candidate statements should consider a number of questions, including:

- How will the statement be published (web site only, posted at the district's office, other forums)?
- How long will the statement be?
- What information is required in the statement (if any)?
- What information is prohibited in the statement (if any)?
- What happens if there are inaccurate, erroneous, or offensive statements or language in the statement?
- When must the statement be provided by the candidate to the district?
- Will the statement be provided with absentee ballot requests and/or mailed to prospective voters?
- If a candidate wishes to rescind a submitted statement, will the district allow that?
- Who decides if the statement meets the parameters set by the district (i.e. it was submitted on time, it meets the length requirements, etc)?
- Will the statement be edited by the District in any way?
- What procedure would the district use to approve the publication of a candidates' statement?

Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the candidate to inform voters of the candidate's desire and qualifications to be elected to the office of conservation district supervisor. Candidates are free to run campaigns as they see fit and can provide voters with any information they choose, so long as they are lawful and otherwise comply with the Revised Code of Washington, Washington Administrative Code, and Commission elections policies and procedures.

It is up to the District to modify the template below so that it meets the District's current policy:

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

1845 Sample Candidate Information Template:

Formatted: Centered

1846 Thank you for your interest in running for the office of elected supervisor of the [DISTRICT] Conservation District!

1847 Prior to Election Day, we encourage you to take the opportunity to tell voters about who you are and how you are connected to
1848 the District and county. Please keep in mind though, that such information must not be provided within 300 feet of polls on
1849 Election Day.

1850 There's another chance to tell voters about yourself – that is when you turn in your candidate information. The candidate
1851 information is similar to your biography – it allows you to inform voters of your desire and qualification to be elected to the office
1852 of conservation district supervisor.

1853 If all candidates participate by the filing deadline, the District will produce a voter pamphlet with candidate information. The
1854 voter pamphlet will be posted as soon as practicable on the Districts' web page.

1855 Your statement should be no more than 200 words. Statements must be typed. You may submit a photograph of yourself with
1856 your statement. Photos must be digital (JPEG or TIFF format), current (within 5 years), head and shoulders only portrait, light
1857 colored on plain background. Photos with scenery, flags, or other background settings will not be accepted. Color photos are
1858 preferred, black and white is acceptable. Judicial robes, law enforcement or military type uniforms are prohibited. No photo
1859 may reveal clothing or insignia suggesting that you hold a public office. Submitted photos become the property of the District.

1860 The statement must be limited to information only about you. The District retains the right to eliminate information for space
1861 availability or content appropriateness, at the sole discretion of the District. Once submitted, the District has sole discretion to
1862 publish that information as it sees fit, provided that each candidate's statement is treated equally. Inaccurate, erroneous, or
1863 offensive statements or language in the candidate information, as determined by the District's delegated Election Supervisor,
1864 will result in the non-publication of the candidate statement.

1865 Things to think about when you write your candidate statement:

- 1866 • Describe your current occupation/employer (suggested).
- 1867 • Describe your position interest (suggested).
- 1868 • Describe your education (suggested).
- 1869 • Information about your family (optional).
- 1870 • Include a photo of yourself (suggested).
- 1871

1872 Candidate statements must be returned in the proper format, as outlined above, no later than the candidate filing deadline of
1873 [DATE], to the District at [ADDRESS]. As determined by the District, the failure to properly submit the statement will result in
1874 the non-publication of the statement. Any issue a candidate has surrounding a candidate's submitted statement must be made
1875 in writing [electronic or paper] to the District's Election Supervisor. As the delegated agent of the District, the District's Election
1876 Supervisor will resolve the issue as soon as practicable and inform the candidate of the decision in writing [electronic or paper].

1877
1878

Formatted: Centered, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

Appendix E - Sample Elected Board Positions – Mid-Term Appointments

Formatted: Font: +Body, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Heading 1

Formatted: Font: +Body

Purpose: To establish a policy outlining the process and procedures for filling mid-term elected seat vacancies on the Conservation District Board of Supervisors (Board).

Policy: A vacancy in the office of elected conservation district supervisor is filled, by a majority vote of the remaining Conservation District (District) Board Members, for the remainder of the unexpired term, subject to verification of supervisor qualifications by the Conservation Commission (WAC 135-110-970; RCW 42.12.070).

Procedure: Determining Candidate Skills, Qualifications & Requirements

The Board shall determine the skills and qualifications needed to fill the vacated position in such a way that meet current organizational needs and fills statutory requirements for board make-up, prior to advertising the opening. However, the following skills, qualifications, and expectations will be consistently required of any candidate seeking a board position:

a) Willingness and ability to work and communicate effectively with a team;

b) Willingness to fully participate in board discussions and decisions in open, public meetings;

c) Willingness and ability to be respectful of Staff and other Supervisors;

d) Functional knowledge of Conservation Districts;

e) Willingness and ability to meet all Supervisor requirements set forth in appropriate Board of Supervisors policies;

f) Willingness and ability to participate in various leadership roles, if needed, such as special committees or board officer position;

g) Willingness and ability to represent the District to other public entities and policymakers upon request of the board;

h) Willingness and ability to complete a Washington State Conservation Commission (Commission) orientation within 90 days of assuming office;

i) Willingness and ability to complete the Open Public Meetings Act and Public Records Management training within 90 days of assuming office;

j) Having a basic working knowledge of email and internet; and,

k) Willing and able to serve the best interest of the citizens of the District and County, with the ability to put aside personal issues and grievances.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

1950

1951 Any appointee to a vacant elected supervisor position must still be eligible to serve under WAC 135-110-910.
1952 Depending on the current make-up of the board, an appointee may be required to be a landowner or farm operator at
1953 the time of the appointment. The District will make such determination before appointing a person to fill the vacant
1954 elected supervisor position by using Commission's form AF2- Mid-Term Elected Position Appointment Verification of
1955 Qualifications. At least two of the three elected conservation district supervisors on the board must be landowners or
1956 operators of a farm. Definitions for a landowner and farm operator are found in WAC 135-110-110.

1957 Candidate Recruitment

1958 When an elected seat is vacated, the remaining Board Members, with input from Staff, will determine skills and
1959 qualifications necessary to meet organization needs and fill statutory requirements. Once qualifications are
1960 determined by the Board, a candidate recruitment process will commence.

1961 The Board will enact a proactive candidate recruitment plan, as follows:

1962 • _____ The Board will discuss viable candidates that stand out in our community as potential assets to the Board
1963 and our organization.

1964 • _____ The Board will decide if there are any candidates they would like to reach out to, and the Board will create an
1965 outreach plan for conducting these efforts.

1966 District Staff will enact a passive candidate recruitment plan, as follows:

1967 • _____ Prepare and issue an advertisement in the legal section of the local newspaper, physically post a notice at
1968 the District Office, electronically post via social media, and electronically post on the District's website. The
1969 announcement on the website will include the requirements necessary to hold office, time to be served in vacant
1970 position, election information, basic duties, and instructions for submitting applications.

1971 Board and Staff can augment this advertising plan to include additional marketing outlets, as needed.

1972 The District Manager will prepare an application form that requests the appropriate information for the Board of
1973 Supervisors' consideration of the candidates. Instructions for applying will be available on the District's website.
1974 Candidates must provide an application packet that includes:

1975 • _____ A completed application form.

1976 • _____ A resume (no longer than two pages).

1977 • _____ A list of at least three community references (prefer organizations that have collaborative partnerships with
1978 the District).

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

1979

1980 Application packets must be submitted electronically to the District Office, to the attention of the District Manager by a
1981 deadline designated by the Board. Candidates submitting the required Application Packets materials by the deadline
1982 will be circulated to the Board and the District's assigned Commission Regional Manager. The decision as to which
1983 candidates will be interviewed will be determined by the Board, based on information contained in the application
1984 packet.

1985 Candidate Interviews

1986 The Vice Chair (or other board designee) will conduct the reference checks and input from Staff will be collected,
1987 disseminated, and reviewed by the Board, prior to candidate interviews. The Board will determine interview
1988 questions, with Staff input, and ensure that each applicant is asked the approved set of questions, prior to interviews.

1989 Interviews with candidates must be held in an open public meeting. The Board will interview candidates at the next
1990 regularly scheduled board meeting following the application deadline, unless that period is less than two weeks. In
1991 such a case, a Special Board meeting may be requested by the Chair. The District Manager will notify applicants of
1992 the location, date and time of the candidate interviews.

1993 The candidates' order of appearance will be determined by the date and time their application was received. The
1994 Board shall ask the pre-determined set of questions, which must be responded to by the candidate. Each applicant
1995 will be asked to answer the same set of questions. Follow up questions, based on responses, are permitted. An
1996 informal question and answer period of up to 10 minutes may be allowed upon agreement of a majority of the Board,
1997 in which the Board and Staff asks and receives answers to miscellaneous questions.

1998 Appointing a Candidate

1999 The Board will base their candidate selection decisions upon information contained in the application packet, the
2000 references, interviews, and other material gathered through public avenues, as necessary, to choose a
2001 representative of the District. Upon completion of the interviews, the Board may deliberate on the candidate(s). The
2002 meeting Chair shall poll the Board to determine if they are prepared to vote. The selection of a candidate to fill the
2003 vacancy is made by a majority vote of the remaining Board Members. Voting will take place in the open meeting and
2004 outcomes recorded in the minutes. The Board may postpone an appointment decision until another date, if a majority
2005 vote is not received. In addition, the Board may decide by majority vote that none of the candidates meet the desired
2006 and/or required qualifications needed to balance the Board makeup and maximize benefit to district functions. In this
2007 case, the Board will designate a new application deadline in the future. Active and passive recruitment would occur
2008 again during the interim.

2009 It is noted the Board may convene into Executive Session to discuss the qualifications of the candidates, pursuant to
2010 RCW 42.30.110(1)(h). However, all interviews, nominations, and votes taken by the Board must be held in open

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

2011 public session. The Board may not determine who to select or reach a consensus on a preferred candidate in
2012 Executive Session.
2013 Once appointed, the new Board Member will assume their board responsibilities immediately. The term of the
2014 candidate selected to fill the vacancy will be in effect until the current term expires. The incumbent may choose to run
2015 for election at that time.

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Centered

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

2035

Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Heading 1

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

<p><u>1 – Receipt of candidate information (WAC 135-110-355(2)b).</u> <u>The completed candidate information form must be received by the District by the candidate filing deadline. An individual who does not provide candidate information by the filing deadline can only be elected as an undeclared write-in candidate if no other person files by the candidate filing deadline. WAC 135-110-360.</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate did submit required candidate information by the filing deadline.</u></p> <p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate did not submit required candidate information by the filing deadline.</u></p>
<p><u>2 – Receipt of nominating petition (WAC 135-110-355(2)c).</u> <u>The completed candidate information form and the completed nomination petition must be received by the District by the candidate filing deadline. A candidate who submits a nominating petition after the filing deadline will be considered a declared candidate and their name will not appear on the official ballot. WAC 135-110-340.</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate did submit a completed nominating petition by the filing deadline.</u></p> <p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate did not submit a completed nominating petition by the filing deadline.</u></p>
<p><u>3 – Verification of candidate eligibility (WAC 135-110-355(2)d).</u> <u>The District must verify the eligibility of the candidate to hold the public office of conservation district supervisor.</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate is a qualified district elector (registered voter living inside the conservation district).</u></p> <p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>The candidate is not a qualified district elector.</u></p>
<p><u>4 – Verification of statutory board composition (WAC 135-110-355(2)e).</u> <u>The District must verify that the board composition resulting from the election of this candidate will meet the statutory requirement that at least one of the two appointed supervisors must be a landowner or operator of a farm, and at least two of the three elected supervisors must be landowners or operators of a farm.</u></p>	<p><u>If this candidate is elected, at least two of the three elected conservation district Supervisors</u></p> <p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>will be landowners or farm operators.</u></p> <p><input type="checkbox"/> <u>will not be landowners or farm operators.</u></p>
<p><u>5 – Verification of nominators on nominating petition (WAC 135-110-355(3)).</u> <u>The District must verify the eligibility of each person signing the nominating petition. Only qualified district electors are eligible to sign. Signatures of people found to not be qualified district electors must not be counted toward the 25 nominator minimum required for a valid nominating petition.</u></p>	<p><u>Enter the total number of individuals who signed the candidate's nominating petition.</u></p>
	<p><u>Enter the total number of nominators found to be qualified district electors. Must be greater than 25.</u></p>
<p><u>6 – Ballot Finding:</u> <u>If the answers to Sections 1, 2, 3, and 4 are in the affirmative, and the total number of nominators found to be qualified district electors in Section 5 is 25 or more, the candidate's name must be pre-printed on the official ballot.</u></p>	

2036

2037

2038

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

2039

Checklist 2 – Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Heading 1

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt

<p><u>1. Has due notice of the election resolution been duly published by the District? Was due notice of the intent to adopt an election resolution published, at least twice, a week apart, the first time being at least one week before the meeting at which the election resolution was adopted and the second at least one day before the meeting at which the election resolution was adopted?</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(a)</u></p>
<p><u>2. Has due notice of the election been duly published by the District? Has the date, time, place and manner of the election been published, at least twice, a week apart, the first time being at least one week before the candidate filing deadline and the second at least one day before the candidate filing deadline?</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(a)</u></p>
<p><u>3. Was the only person who filed by the candidate filing deadline the incumbent?</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(b); WAC</u></p>
<p><u>3A. At the time of filing, was the incumbent a qualified district elector (at the time of filing, was the incumbent a registered voter in the county where the district is located and a resident within the conservation district boundary)?</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>135-110-300; WAC 135-110-320</u></p>
<p><u>3B. At the time of filing, the incumbent submitted to the conservation district</u></p> <p>1. The name of the conservation district:</p> <p>2. The incumbent's name, residential address, mailing address (if different), and phone number:</p> <p>3. Whether the person is a registered voter in the county where the conservation district is located:</p> <p>4. Whether the person resides inside the conservation district boundary:</p> <p>5. Whether the person is a landowner or an operator of a farm: and</p> <p>6. The dated signature of the incumbent attesting to the accuracy of the information so provided.</p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	
<p><u>4. Has the conservation district verified the continued eligibility of the incumbent to serve another term of office? Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor must be completed for the incumbent.</u></p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(c); WAC 135-110-355</u></p>
<p><u>4A. The election supervisor has determined that</u></p> <p>1. The name of the incumbent (who filed the candidate information) is the correct legal name of the individual:</p> <p>2. That the incumbent submitted candidate information by the filing deadline:</p> <p>3. That the incumbent submitted a valid nominating petition by the filing deadline:</p> <p>4. That the incumbent was a qualified district elector on the day of filing; and</p> <p>5. That at least two of the three elected conservation district supervisors on the conservation</p>	<p><input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No</p>	<p><u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(c); WAC 135-110-355</u></p>

Formatted Table

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

<u>district board of supervisors will be landowners or operators of farms if the incumbent is elected.</u>	<input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No	
<u>5. To the best of your knowledge, it is the incumbent's intent to not resign on or before the last date of the election?</u>	<input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No	<u>WAC 135-110-370(1)(d)</u>
<p><u>6. If all of the above check boxes are checked "YES", the incumbent is automatically re-elected and no other election activities at physical poll sites or through remote election processes may be performed. If any box above is marked "NO", the provision of WAC 135-110-370 have not been met and the election must be held.</u></p> <p><u>However, be aware that before election day, the conservation district must inform the voting public that the incumbent has been reelected by reason of being the only person filing for the position, and that no poll site, mail, or absentee balloting will be performed, and on election day, signs containing this information must be posted at poll sites. Please refer to Appendix B for a sample notice.</u></p> <p><u>No later than four weeks after the first election day, as scheduled in the election resolution, the conservation district must inform the conservation commission of the automatic reelection of the incumbent. To inform the Commission, please fill out EF2.</u></p>		

2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050
2051
2052
2053
2054

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

Checklist 3 - Ballot Results

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto, Not Small caps

Formatted: Heading 1

Polling officer instructions: Following the closure of the polls, polling officers must tally valid votes cast. Please record a separate Checklist 3 for each polling location. Retain each Checklist 3 at the district. Report total ballot counts for each candidate on EF2.

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold, No underline, Font color: Auto, Not Small caps

Formatted: Font: Calibri, 12 pt, Not Bold, Not Small caps

Formatted: Space Before: 12 pt

Formatted Table

Candidate name	Type of Candidate (choose one)			Votes counted by type of ballot cast		
	Declared Nominated	Declared Write-In	Undeclared Write-In	Eligible + Disqualified = Total		
				Eligible	Disqualified	Total
	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>			
	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>			
	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>			
	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>			
	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>	<input type="checkbox"/>			

Please record any discrepancies or disqualifications in detail in the box below.

Formatted Table

We, the undersigned polling officers (and election supervisor, if the election supervisor also served as a polling officer), do attest by our signatures:

- No ballots were in the ballot box when the polls opened.
- The ballots and ballot box did not leave our control before ballots were counted.
- We counted all ballots cast by voters at this polling location.
- The ballot results above are a true accounting of the unofficial results of this election.

Formatted: Font: 8 pt

Date	Polling officer name	Polling officer signature

Formatted Table

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Date	Election Supervisor name	Election Supervisor signature

Deleted: 5

Deleted: f

Election Supervisor Master Checklist for Elections

Note: page numbers are given for general reference only. There may be other relevant sections of the election manual, WAC, or other election guidance that apply to each item. The election supervisor is expected to be familiar with the entire election manual, WAC, and other election materials. Items without page numbers are considered “best practices.”

BEFORE THE ELECTION

Review district election policy and procedures. In those election policy areas that are left to the Districts to determine, craft and adopt needed policies and procedures. **Appendix A - Sample Absentee Ballot, Appendix C – Sample Candidate Information Template, Appendix D - Sample Election Resolution, Pgs 17, 20, 22, 25**

Use the Election Calculator to determine potential election cycle deadlines based on a Districts' proposed election date.

Publish the Notice of the Intent to Adopt an Election Resolution. EF1, **Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples. Pgs 2, 11, 16-17, 19, 47**

Set the parameters of your election at a Board meeting. EF1, **Appendix D - Sample Election Resolution, Pg 2**

If an appointed position's term on the Conservation District Board will expire this current election cycle, decide if the Notice of the Adopted Election Resolution will also include an advertisement that there will be a vacant appointed position available and the deadline to apply is March 31. AF-1, **Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples, Pg 2, 11, 35**

Publish the Notice of the Adopted Election Resolution. EF1, **Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples. Pgs 2, 11, 16-17, 19, 47**

If an appointed position's term on the Conservation District Board will expire this current election cycle, encourage applicants to apply before the March 31 deadline.

Encourage your conservation district supervisors to seek out potential election candidates before the candidate filing deadline.

Determine if the incumbent is going to pursue re-election.

Provide PF-A and PF-B to potential candidates. Encourage them to obtain the 25 valid nominating signatures so that their name can appear pre-printed on the ballot. PF-A, PF-B, pgs 12, 15, 30

Verify, for each candidate, that eligibility requirements have been met and, for declared nominated candidates, direct whether or not to place the name of the candidate on the ballot. This is done using **Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor, Pgs 4, 13, 18-19, 23, 25, 32-33, 40**

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 2109 Inform candidates found to be ineligible of the reasons for the ineligibility. Ensure that ineligible candidates' names do not
- 2110 appear on the official ballot. If candidate lacks sufficient nominators on the nominating petition, or does not submit a nominating
- 2111 petition, the candidate must be considered a declared write-in candidate and the candidate must be so informed. Pgs 20, 32-33
- 2112
- 2113 If the only candidate to file PF-A and PF-B by the candidate filing deadline was the incumbent, determine if the incumbent will
- 2114 be automatically re-elected through WAC 135-110-370. This can be done using **Checklist 2 – Automatically Re-**
- 2115 **electing an Incumbent. Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples, Pgs 2, 20, 23, 25, 30, 32**
- 2116
- 2117 If the incumbent will be automatically re-elected (meaning all provisions of WAC 135-110-370 are met and **Checklist 2 –**
- 2118 **Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent** is completed), the election must be cancelled and no other election activities
- 2119 may be performed. The district must inform the public that the incumbent has been re-elected. *Skip down this Checklist to the*
- 2120 *last two bullets under "Before The Election" and the first bullet under "On Election Day."* **Checklist 2 – Automatically Re-**
- 2121 **electing an Incumbent, Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples, Pgs 2, 20, 23, 25, 30, 32**
- 2122
- 2123 Encourage candidates to inform voters of the candidate's desire and qualifications to be elected to the office of conservation
- 2124 district supervisor. **Appendix C – Sample Candidate Information Template, Pgs 20-21, 24, 30**
- 2125
- 2126 Decide if the district will publish candidate statements. **Appendix C – Sample Candidate Information Template,**
- 2127 **Pgs 20-21.**
- 2128
- 2129 Create the official election ballot. PF-D, **Appendix A - Sample Absentee Ballot, Pgs 3-15, 17-35**
- 2130
- 2131 Decide if the district will provide ballots to a pre-determined list of voters. If it will, then do so. Pg 21
- 2132
- 2133 Provide absentee ballots to voters who request them. **Appendix A - Sample Absentee Ballot, Pgs 5, 11, 17, 19-30,**
- 2134 **34**
- 2135
- 2136 Obtain the list of current registered voters from the County Auditor or Secretary of State. Pg 22
- 2137
- 2138 If holding a mail-in (or remote) election, use the double-envelope voting system. Pgs 8, 21-22, 25-27
- 2139
- 2140 Process mail-in and/or absentee ballots. Pgs 26-27
- 2141
- 2142 Ensure the poll site location is available and otherwise functional as a poll site location. EF1, Pgs 2-3, 13-14, 16, 20, 22-25,
- 2143 **27, 34**
- 2144
- 2145 Confirm that the following resources will be available at each poll site (pg 27):
- 2146 Sufficient ballots for the expected number of voters;
- 2147 A reasonable supply of contested ballots (double-envelope system);
- 2148 A ballot box;
- 2149 Voting booth or other means of assuring votes can be cast privately;
- 2150 A list of registered voters (voter list);
- 2151 A map or description of the conservation district legal boundary;
- 2152 A copy of the election manual; and

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- [Poll list forms \(PF-D\)](#)
- [Checklist 3 - Ballot Results.](#)

[Decide whether or not to declare emergency when adverse conditions may negatively affect the health or safety of voters or the timely return of absentee ballots. Pg 34](#)

[Before the polls open, review with polling officers the procedures for verifying voters, issuing ballots, issuing contested ballots, and tallying and recording election results. Pg 24](#)

[Confirm due notice requirements have been satisfied. Use election calculator. **Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples**, Pgs 47, 2, 11, 16-17, 19](#)

[Submit EF1 by the candidate filing deadline. Confirm that the election resolution has been provided to the Conservation Commission by the candidate filing deadline. Pgs 11, 14-15](#)

ON ELECTION DAY

[If your incumbent was automatically re-elected, the district must post signs on Election Day at all polling sites containing that information. Skip to the last three bullets under "After the Election." **Checklist 2 – Automatically Re-electing an Incumbent**](#)

[Decide whether or not to declare emergency when adverse conditions may negatively affect the health or safety of voters or the timely return of absentee ballots. Pg 34](#)

[Assure that voters have privacy when voting. Pgs 24, 27](#)

[Have a copy of the election manual on hand and available for public inspection. Pg 16](#)

[Each polling place must be open for at least four hours at a time convenient for voters in that district. Pgs 2, 17, 23](#)

[Polling places must have sufficient parking to accommodate the expected number of voters. Pgs 2-3, 17](#)

[Polling places must be accessible to those with disabilities and not create undue hardship for them. Pgs 17, 23](#)

[Ensure that information provided by candidates may not be provided to voters within 300 feet of the poll site. Pgs 2, 7, 21, 30-31](#)

[Each poll site must have a ballot box, signage, and be accessible to voters. Pgs 23, 34](#)

[Each poll site must have at least one ballot box. Pgs 5, 9, 23-24, 27-28](#)

[Each poll site must be conspicuously identified to voters as the place to vote. Pgs 2, 23](#)

[Not post the names of candidates at the polls. Pg 24](#)

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Deleted: f

- 2197
- 2198 Ensure there are at least two polling officers at each poll site (the election supervisor may substitute for one polling officer at one poll site). Pgs 2-3, 17, 20, 23-25
- 2199
- 2200
- 2201 Control behavior that disrupts or interferes with the election. Pg 2
- 2202
- 2203 Monitor the poll site for compliance with election procedures. Pg 27
- 2204
- 2205 Ensure that the polling officers verify a voter is a qualified district elector before issuing a ballot to the voter and record that determination on the poll list. Pgs 9, 22, 26-29
- 2206
- 2207
- 2208 Ensure that at least one polling officer is present and in control of the ballot box(es) at all times while the polls are open. Pgs 9, 22, 26-29
- 2209
- 2210
- 2211 Provide contested ballots to individuals wishing to vote who cannot be verified as eligible to vote prior to the issuance of a ballot. Pgs 4, 6, 21-22, 26-29, 32
- 2212
- 2213
- 2214 Be able to show or describe the district's legal boundary. Pgs 12, 22, 27-28, 31
- 2215
- 2216 Ensure polling officers use the poll list to track the identity and number of voters, to identify determinations made by polling officers as to voter eligibility, and to identify voters issued contested ballots. Pgs 8-9, 13, 24-25, 27-29, 31
- 2217
- 2218
- 2219 Ensure that paper ballots are placed into ballot boxes. Pg 24
- 2220
- 2221 Ensure polling officers close the polls at the published time, unless the polls are extended by a conservation district supervisor or the election supervisor. Pg 28
- 2222
- 2223
- 2224
- 2225 **AFTER THE ELECTION**
- 2226
- 2227 Verify any undeclared write-in candidate is eligible to be elected. This is done using **Checklist 1 - District Verification of Candidate and Eligibility for the Office of Elected Supervisor**. Pgs 10, 14, 18, 32-33
- 2228
- 2229
- 2230 Direct polling officers to open the ballot box or boxes and count the votes cast for each candidate. Pg 28
- 2231
- 2232 Count all votes. Pg 29
- 2233
- 2234 Record all ballot count results on **Checklist 3 - Ballot Results** for each polling site. Pg 29
- 2235
- 2236 Receive the following from the polling officers (Pgs 24, 29-30):
- 2237 All poll list pages (PF-C);
- 2238 All ballots;
- 2239 All completed **Checklist 3 - Ballot Results** reports.
- 2240 All working papers and notes made by polling officers.

Deleted: 5

Election and Appointment Procedures
For Conservation District Supervisors



Washington State
Conservation
Commission

Deleted: f

2241
2242
2243
2244
2245
2246
2247
2248
2249
2250
2251
2252
2253
2254
2255

Receive from the polling officers an announcement of the unofficial results of the election, subject to certification by the Conservation Commission. Pgs 4, 29

Excuse polling officers. Pg 24

Transmit election data to the Commission. EF2 – Election Report, Pg 24

Retain all original data. Pgs 4, 14, 25

If an appointed position's term on the Conservation District Board will expire this current election cycle, and the District has not already advertised the vacancy with the Notice of the Adopted Election Resolution, advertise the vacant appointed position at least one month before March 31. AF-1, **Appendix B – Due Notice Compliance Notice Examples**, Pg 2, 11, 35

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: 5